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Chairman’s Statement
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Business Review

As the world economy emerges from the recent economic turmoil, Hong
Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited (“HKE” or the “Company”, and with its
subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) has made significant progress in 2010
in transforming the Group into a fully-fledged alternative energy player in
China and in securing the Group with a strategic financial investor. In addition,
commercial operations of a number of wind farms have commenced during
the second half of 2010 following successful commissioning.

As part of the strategic transformation, HKE has successfully completed
the acquisition of the alternative energy business from its parent company,
HKC (Holdings) Limited (“HKC”, and with its subsidiaries, collectively,
“HKC Group”), on 31 August 2010. The business covers five wind farms in
Siziwanggi of Inner Mongolia, Danjinghe of Hebei, Changma of Gansu and
Mudanjiang of Heilongjiang, a waste-to-energy plant in Linyi of Shandong,
as well as a branch office in Beijing. The fair value of the consideration on
the date of entering into sales and purchase agreement was HK$1,018.10
million and was paid by way of issue and allotment of convertible preference
shares, which rank pari passu with the ordinary shares of the Company on
any payment of dividends or distribution or return of capital (other than on
a liquidation, dissolution or winding up) but with no voting rights. As a result
of the transaction, the value of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December
2010 has increased to HK$2,761.67 million from HK$396.05 million of last
year.

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2010

EH O

BEE2RKEEROSRERPER FE
e R(ZER)BRAR(EBHER] LA
RE EREMBARAHEIAKEEDR-F
—EFERBAEEERSTEERRANE
RERLER RAAKERERB SRR
BE OBREBENER I ZEBRSEK
DHAER R-Z-FFTHFHAHEEL
B o

EARBER  FEEMERR_ZE—ZFFN
A=+—HKIWTKREGRAEBRRGE
B)BEBRAB(TESRZR] ERAWNBATE
BIEAEREBE]DBEZRERESL - LA
¥BRERLERNSDAMAARETHEFE
EomdEEST HRESRBEEIAST
— BRI EEF 2R RBEERAERIE R
IOSXHERE RIVEEHRAHREZ
‘A 18 A1,018,100,0005% JT I 5 B 25 77 & B
BOMREERZANIZIN  MZFUTRK
EBERBEAAGLEBARZERSER K
RIER - BESKEREH ZBRIN  AJEIRK
B DR E AR H - M EEERE - ANt
HRXG AEBBEER_ZZ—ZF+=A
=+ —H 2 {&fE /A % 396,050,000/ jt ft &
2,761,670,00078 Jt °



Business Review (continueq)

Following the Group’s business strategy, HKE has successfully introduced a
global private investment firm TPG Growth (with its subsidiaries, collectively,
“TPG”) to be its strategic partner on 23 November 2010. TPG has invested
approximately HK$195.00 million for 300 million convertible preference
shares, with the right to invest in an additional HK$195.00 million for another
260 million convertible preference shares. This transaction significantly
strengthened the Group’s capital base. With TPG’s funding support, the
Group will now be able to accelerate its expansion plans.

On the project level, the Group has successfully executed on all the projects
that it started several years ago. Adding on to the existing operating wind
farms in Mudanjiang, Danjinghe, and the waste-to-energy plant in Linyi,
Phase 2 and 3 of the Danjinghe wind farm and the Changma wind farm
have commenced commercial operation in September and November 2010
respectively. The wind farms in Siziwangai of Inner Mongolia and Lunaobao of
Heibei were in the final stage of commissioning and commercial operations of
these Farms are expected to be in January and February 2011 respectively.

At present, the Group has a total gross wind power capacity of approximately
600 Mega-Watt (“MW”). A pipeline of potential projects has been secured in
2010 which will enable the Group to further expand the wind power capacity
in the next few years.

With the business injection and the operating wind farms starting to contribute
revenues from September, the Group has recorded a net profit of HK$335.32
million in 2010. Basic earnings per share were HK39.67 cents. The cash
position remains sufficient, with cash and cash equivalents of HK$362.56
million. The net asset value per share is HK$1.93.

Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FTEHEE &)

Prospects

Alternative energy has been and will continue to be the key focus for
sustainable economic development in global communities. The People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”, or “China”) government (“Chinese Government”)
will continue to provide strong support to the industry. Favourable energy
policies and financial subsidies have been rolled out to create an enticing
business landscape for the industrial players in order to achieve the
government target of non-fossil energy accounting for 15% of primary energy
consumption by 2020. Some of these include the Chinese Government
putting in more resources to expand the capacity as well as the robustness
of the national power grid as drafted in the Twelfth Five-Year Programme
for National Economic and Social Development which covers 2011 to 2015.
Such activities are expected to eliminate the threat of power curtailment to
alternative energy providers due to transmission capacity bottlenecking and
a less stable transmission dynamics from electricity generated by alternative
energy sources.

Over-supply of wind equipment manufacturing capacity has driven down
the price by more than 30% over the past few years. This significantly
reduces the construction cost of new wind farms. Such favourable condition
is expected to last for a few more years until the consolidation of the wind
equipment manufacturing industry is completed. The Group will benefit from it
in developing its pipeline of new wind farms projects.

Having completed the acquisition of HKC Group’s alternative energy business
and bringing in a strategic financial investor, the Group will use its core
competence in wind farm development and construction to expand its gross
wind power capacity over the next five years focusing on regions that the
Group has significant development and operation experience. Detailed wind
resource analysis, together with robust grid development analysis, both of
which will be conducted in-house as well as by external experts such as
the renowned wind resources specialist Garrad Hassan Limited from United
Kingdom, will determine the pace of development of our project pipeline. In
addition, resources have also been put in place to explore potential sites in
region other than the traditional “Three-North Regions”. These sites, such as
those in the southwest of China, would have lower wind resources than the
traditional “Three-North Regions”, but wind farms in these locations would
receive a higher feed-in tariff and with less curtailment to the power grid.
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Prospects (continued)

As the Chinese Government has tightened up the source of funding for capital
projects and the interest rate increment cycle has duly started, bank financing
is expected to be less liquid than in recent years. Despite this challenge, the
Group is constantly seeking different means to ensure sufficient funding with
reasonable financing cost is available for future expansion.

It is our view that the continued positive business landscape will help the
Group to grow substantially and our shareholders to enjoy remarkable return
on their investment.

Acknowledgements

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my greatest thanks to all
our business partners, employees, management and shareholders for the
dedication and support you have shown for HKE throughout the year under
review.

OEI Kang, Eric
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 March 2011

Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FTEHREE (B

Bl = (#)

HRPERNEREEREE ZES KR
BEmMBAHEEXRERN  BASEEST  RiT
MERBEKRERD BEEYULKE - XK
ENTESREMERE BRIASBREERK
NERFERES  UWHEARBERZA-

SRR BEIEZAMARBENAE
EAEER TRECEIHEEZRED
% -

&)

AANERERREZTS ARLDEFA—E
BRBOAERBAXKEERERRZMEER
BH BT ERASRERBARLHE -

=
TERITEAAR

BB —E-——%=A=+H

EBRFEFRER ARAF ¢ —T-TFFR

07



08

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENmN O

Financial Review

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the turnover for Hong Kong Energy
(Holdings) Limited (“HKE” or “the Company”, and with its subsidiaries,
collectively, the “Group”) amounted to HK$24.11 million, an increase of 127%
from HK$10.61 million for the same period ended 31 December 2009. Such
increase was mainly due to the inclusion of alternative energy business results
starting from 1 September 2010. Gross profit for the year, however, dropped
by 3% from last year’'s HK$5.71 million to HK$5.55 million as a higher
depreciation charge on the capital-intensive alternative energy business
compared to the software business was incurred.

Following the alternative energy business acquisition (“Business Acquisition”)
from the parent company, HKC (Holdings) Limited (“HKC”, and with its
subsidiaries, collectively, the “HKC Group”) completed on 31 August 2010,
the Group has a share of the net profits of HK$21.75 million derived from the
joint-venture wind farm projects and waste-to-energy project in Danjinghe,
Changma and Linyi for the 2010 financial year.

In addition, the Group recognised a gain of HK$386.55 million due to the
Business Acquisition. The amount included a HK$222.25 million gain on
discount received and a HK$164.30 million mark-to-market valuation gain
on share-based consideration at the date of completion. An additional
investment right to a global private investment firm TPG Growth (with its
subsidiaries, collectively, the “TPG”) on 23 November 2010 had resulted in a
fair value gain of HK$17.02 million for the year ended 31 December 2010.

A net profit before tax of HK$359.72 million was recorded after writing off
HK$4.74 million worth of fixed assets and intangible assets associated with
the software business. Net profit after tax attributable to equity holders of the
Group was HK$336.31 million this year, as compared with last year’s net loss
after tax attributable to equity holders of HK$10.43 million. Basic earnings per
share were HK39.67 cents as compared to last year basic loss per share of
HK1.36 cents.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Financial Review (continueq)

Placing and Subscription of Shares

On 31 August 2010, HKE issued and allotted 1,385,170,068 convertible
preference shares (“CPSs”) at HK61.64 cents per share to HKC Group for
the Business Acquisition. There was no cash transfer as it was HKC Group’s
intention that HKE should preserve cash for future alternative energy business
development.

On 23 November 2010, HKE issued and allotted 300,000,000 CPSs at the
price of HK65 cents to TPG, an investment firm independent to the Group.
The gross proceeds were approximately HK$195.00 million.

Liquidity and Financial Resources
As at 31 December 2010, the Group had total bank borrowings of
HK$725.67 million as compared to nil borrowing in 2009.

The bank borrowings included interest-bearing Renminbi bank loans to the
Group’s wind farm projects in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”, or
“China”), with interest rates fixed at the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”)
rates. The maturity dates for the Group’s outstanding bank borrowings were
spread over the next eleven years. There were HK$65.11 million repayable
within one year, HK$269.91 million repayable within two to five years and
HK$390.65 million repayable after five years.

Convertible notes of principal amount RMB73.50 million (equivalent to
HK$83.06 million) were issued on 30 December 2009 to HKC for the
acquisition of an effectively 10% equity interest of the Danjinghe wind farm
project company. The notes have a three-year conversion period and carry
zero-interest coupon with a fixed conversion price of HK$1.0113 per share.
The notional loan amount of the convertible notes was HK$78.29 million as at
31 December 2010.

The Group’s unrestricted cash and cash equivalents were HK$362.56 million
as at 31 December 2010 as compared to HK$172.23 million in 2009. The
increase was largely contributed by TPG investment. For future projects, the
Group will first rely on its internal sources and will actively seek bank financing
to fund its future capital expenditure commitments.

The Group did not use financial instruments for financial hedging purposes
during the period under review.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
BB BN W R ()

Financial Review (continueq)

Details of Charges in Group Assets

The Group’s subsidiaries had charged their assets including wind power
equipment, construction in progress, prepaid land lease payments and
trade receivables, worth approximately RMB838.06 million (equivalent to
HK$992.10 million) as security for the bank borrowings compared to no
charges over the Group’s assets in 2009.

Gearing Ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December 2010 was 26% as compared to
a net cash position of HK$96.22 million (which represented the Group’s cash
and cash equivalents of HK$172.23 million less the notional loan amount
of the convertible note HK$76.01 million) in 2009. The ratio represents total
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents (including restricted cash) divided
by total equity.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group did not have any contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2010
same as 2009.

Business review

Persistent efforts of strategy & business cultivation have yielded strong results
for the Group in 2010. Following the business plan, HKE has made significant
steps in transforming the Group into HKC Group’s alternative energy flagship
and in improving the Group’s competitive strength.

A major achievement in year 2010 was the completion of the Business
Acquisition from HKC Group on 31 August 2010. This acquisition covered
a 200 Mega-Watt (“MW”) wind farm in Danjinghe of Hebei, a 201 MW wind
farm in Changma of Gansu, a 59.5 MW wind farm in Mudanjiang and Muling
of Heilongjiang, a 25 MW waste-to-energy plant in Linyi of Shandong and
a branch office in Beijing. The fair value of the consideration on the date of
entering into sales and purchase agreement was HK$1,018.10 million, which
represented a 25% discount to the business valuation and a 22% premium
over the original HKC Group’s book value, was paid by way of issuing and
allotting 1,385,170,068 CPSs. The restructuring of the alternative energy
assets has resulted in a better business management focus and use of
resources.

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2010
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Business review (continued)

Another important achievement was the introduction of TPG, one of the
world’s largest private equity firms, as a strategic partner on 23 November
2010. A total of 300,000,000 CPSs were issued and allotted to TPG in
exchange for HK$195.00 million. TPG has the right to subscribe to an
additional 260,000,000 additional CPSs for another HK$195.00 million in
the next four years. After deducting the transaction costs, approximately
HK$190.00 million was received on 23 November 2010. The proceeds were
used as operating capital and for future expansion and to strengthen our
capital base. In addition, a non-executive director was nominated by TPG to
the HKE board (the “Board”) and to participate in the Investment Committee
and the Audit Committee. TPG’s participation will provide the Group with
valuable financial and alternative energy expertise.

On the project level, the Group has made a significant progress in 2010. After
the construction and pre-commercial operating period, a total of 360 MW
gross wind power capacities were put into commercial operation in late 2010.
Together with the existing operating alternative energy projects, all projects
are now contributing revenue to the Group. In addition, there was another
150 MW of gross wind power capacity that would be in full commercial
operation within the first quarter of 2011.

Mudanjiang and Muling Wind Farms

Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms have a total of 59.5 MW of wind power
capacity. Located in Heilongjiang province, the wind farms started commercial
operation in the fourth quarter of 2007. The Group is the majority shareholder
holding 86% and 86.68% equity stake respectively. In 2010, the wind farms
experienced significant curtailment. However, the curtailment is expected
to ease over the next several years. The Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms
dispatched 71.65 million Kilowatt-hour (“KWh”) of power in 2010, which was
15% below budget.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
BB BN W R ()

Business review (continued)
Danjinghe Wind Farm

The Group has a 40% effective equity interest in the Danjinghe wind farm
project company while the majority and controlling shareholder, the wind
division subsidiary of China Energy Conservation and Environmental
Protection Group (collectively, “CECEP”, formerly known as China Energy
Conversation Investment Corporation or “CECIC”), holds 60% of the equity
stake. The Danjinghe wind farm of 200 MW wind power capacity is located
in Hebei province and is made up of three phases. The first phase of wind
power capacity 40.5 MW started commercial operation in January 2010
while the second and third phase in total of 159.5 MW commenced operation
in September 2010. The power dispatched for 2010, including power
dispatched during trial run and commissioning period prior to commercial
operation, was around 372.76 million KWh. This was approximately 25%
better than the prediction in the feasibility study report. Due to close proximity
to power demand areas, only less than 1% of curtailment was experienced
on power dispatch.

Changma Wind Farm

Changma wind farm is a joint venture with CECEP located in Gansu province.
The Group has a 40% effective interest in the project company. The 201 MW
wind farm started commercial operation in November 2010. Despite some
curtailment, the power dispatched for 2010, including power dispatched
during trial run and commissioning period prior to commercial operation, was
approximately 387.55 million KWh.

Linyi Waste-to-energy Plant

Linyi waste-to-energy plant of 25MW power generating capacity is a joint
venture with CECEP located in Shandong province. The Group owns 40%
interest. The plant went into commercial operation in September 2007.
Approximately 244,000 tonnes of garbage was being handled and 112.26
million KWh of power was dispatched in 2010.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Business review (continued)

Other Alternative Energy Projects

The construction of wind farm projects in Lunaobao of Hebei province and
Siziwanggqi of Inner Mongolia was completed and trial runs were finished
in 2010. The 100.5 MW Lunaobao wind farm, 30% owned by the Group,
is a joint venture with CECEP. The wholly-owned 49.5 MW wind farm in
Siziwangai is only the first phase (“Siziwanggi Phase I”) of a large investment
that can be further developed into a 1,000 MW wind power base. Both wind
farms were under commissioning stage before final commercial operation.
However, around 84.82 million KWh and 42.82 million KWh of power had
already been dispatched and sold to the grid by the Lunaobao wind farm and
Siziwangai wind farm respectively during 2010.

Apart from these projects, the Group expanded the potential project pipeline
in 2010. An additional 1,600 MW capacity was accumulated as at 31
December 2010. Memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) or co-development
framework agreements were signed.

Outlook

Commencing the Twelfth Five-Year Programme for National Economic and
Social Development (“12th FYP”) which covers 2011 to 2015, the government
in China (the “Chinese Government”) will focus on transforming the country’s
growth model, both to boost domestic consumption and to reduce carbon
intensity in order to facilitate long term sustainable development. Over
capacity in the traditional capital intensive, capacity-building sectors will be
curbed. Reform will be introduced for energy and environmental factors. In
addition, the targets for seven new low-carbon related growth sectors (of
which alternative energy is a part) accounting for 15% of GDP by 2020 and
non-fossil energy accounting for 15% of primary energy consumption by
2020, will imply substantial growth potentials for the alternative energy sector
during the 121 FYP.

Nuclear, hydro, wind and solar power will be encouraged to grow during the
12t FYP with wind power taking the lion-skin of the incremental expansion of
alternative energy.

Policy support and financial incentives, such as tariff subsidy and tax relief,
in favour of the alternative energy operators will continue in the foreseeable
future. Wind projects in the north-western regions, such as our projects
in Changma, Gansu and Siziwanggi in Inner Mongolia might be subject
to further tax incentives benefiting from the “North-Western Development
Incentives”.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
BB BN W R ()

Outlook (Continued)

Considerable efforts and resources have been put in place by the Chinese
Government to improve the power transmission grid and develop the “smart”
grid system. The Chinese Government is planning to spend around RMB4
trillion on power grid infrastructures by 2020. Improvement on power dispatch
curtailment, which has been a major issue commonly experienced by the
alternative energy industry, is anticipated.

A series of merger and acquisition on wind equipment suppliers, as part of
the industry consolidation, is expected with the over-abundant manufacturing
capacities. The market price of wind turbines, which is a major component of
the overall project cost, will likely to come down further as a result. Returns
on wind farm project development would therefore increase accordingly.

It is the Group’s intention to take advantage of this encouraging business
and market environment to expedite the development of the 1,600 MW wind
farm project pipeline into premium wind farms. In addition, new potential wind
farms in the southern part of China are being explored that will further expand
the Group’s project pipeline. The Group will also opportunistically evaluate
potential merger and acquisition opportunities of both “Greenfield” and
“Brownfield” wind farm projects.

On existing projects, the Group is working on preparing the Siziwanggi Phase
| project and the Lunaobao wind farm project into commercial operation in
early 2011. Proper controls over operating expenses, including maintenance
costs, will be taken to ensure that all operating alternative energy projects can
continue to contribute steady revenue to the Group.

Bank financing for alternative energy project development is being explored.
This may be a challenge this year as the Chinese Government has tightened
up funding for capital expansion. Other financing sources or methods will be
investigated to ensure the Group funding requirements are met.

Employees

As at the end of December 2010, the Group’s operations in Hong Kong and
mainland China employed a total of 103 employees. The Group had also
appointed technical consultants on contract terms for its alternative energy
projects. All employees are remunerated according to the nature of their
jobs, their individual performances, the Group’s overall performance, and the
prevailing marketing conditions.

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2010

Bl = (#)

FEBRRENHBRS WL RRLEEER
DR EmERLRAEEEIEN  PEBNR
FEEENARBELA00ET R_E-_FEF

Hl@& PMEZ BFHBEEREERERE
KEEBTEREMAE -
AR AR R R

HEERT %%Awﬁﬁ%/ﬁbo [ # 5 2 B8
BERAEZHSN D EWMERITERME—
WTBE Hﬁ%lﬁﬁé’é@Z@i&Mﬂaﬁzi
o e

AREFEHSEANRSAREZLBEETSEE
B iRABE1600KERNIHBEE - AEK
ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ%oﬁt'ﬂ\ﬂﬁfh%ﬁ)ﬁﬁtﬂlﬁ’ﬁﬁﬂﬁ@%
ZERNGHEE E—SREBAEREEER
15%(%"21»@%Wﬂviﬁtﬁv%'aﬂﬁﬁkﬁﬁﬁﬁi
[FHEIRNBEE 2 EEHBHS -

EREBRE A AEERESHEDFEIHE
—HEBEZEERNSRER T ——F
MBAEEZE  WINREELSERN B
BRI UERAALEET ZERERE
BR#ERAEEGRIBERA -

HRERBAERELE BRESKRITRE A
HRPBEBRRFEERFEFARBEAES 2RR
Iﬁﬁ—f‘*b%ﬁfc%ﬁc’ZIKE@H%ﬁH%ﬁWz%ﬁﬁ

BEHTE WERASEERRES R E

g

EE

RZZE—ZFF+_AE AEERBEFERF
Bl At 25 ERA X103 EES - AEE TN
NEHRARBRERBEL ZTFEMEER -
FTEREFMRES 2 TS - AARE
AEBRBRBEERERMAMEE °



Corporate Governance Report

Corporate Governance Practices

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”, and with its
subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) is committed to good corporate
governance principles and practices and its board of directors (the “Directors”
or the “Board”) recognizes that it is essential to safeguard the interests
of shareholders, customers and employees and uphold accountability,

transparency and responsibility of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) and recommended best practices set out
in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) during the year ended
31 December 2010, save for the deviations with considered reasons stated in
the following relevant paragraphs.

Board of Directors

Board Composition

The Company has during the year ended 31 December 2010 maintained
a balanced board. The Board currently comprises eight Directors with four
Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director, and three Independent Non-
executive Directors. Each Director possesses expertise and experience and
provides checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of the Group
and the shareholders as a whole. Biographical details of the Directors are set
out in pages 27 to 30 of the Annual Report.

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three Independent Non-executive
Directors with at least one Independent Non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors was assessed in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules. Each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors has provided to the Company
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all of them to be independent.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRS (E)

Board of Directors (continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under the Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer (“CEQ”) should be separate and performed by different individuals.
Under the current organization structure of the Company, the functions of
CEQO are performed by the Chairman, Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, with support from
the Vice Chairman, the Managing Director and the other Executive Director.
The Board considers that this structure will not impair the balance of power
and authority between the Board and the management of the Company,
and has been effective in discharging its responsibilities satisfactorily and
facilitating the Company’s operation and business development. The Board
will review the structure from time to time to ensure it continues to meet the
principle and will consider segregation of the roles of chairman and CEO if
and when appropriate.

Responsibilities of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by directing
and supervising the Group’s affairs and formulating business strategies with a
view to maximizing its financial performance and shareholders’ value.

All newly appointed Directors are given comprehensive documentations of the
business operations of the Group and regulatory and statutory requirements
as director together with briefing meetings with senior executives of the
Group. Directors are provided with continuous updates on the latest changes
in the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other relevant laws
and regulations and are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development seminars to update their knowledge for discharging directors’
responsibilities.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify the
Group’s Directors for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Delegation by the Board

The management, consisting of the Executive Directors of the Company
along with other senior executives, is delegated with responsibilities for
implementing the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board from time
to time, and conducting the day-to-day operations of the Group. Executive
Directors and senior executives meet regularly to review the performance
of the businesses of various business units of the Group as a whole, co-
ordinate overall resources and make financial and operation decision. The
Board also gives clear directions as to their powers of management including
circumstances where management should report back, and will review the
delegation arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure that they remain
appropriate to the needs of the Group.
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Board of Directors (continued)

Nomination, Appointment and Re-election of Directors
All new appointment of Directors and nomination of Directors proposed
for re-election at the annual general meeting are first considered by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate
or incumbent on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to
commit time and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board
for decision. Details of the role and function as well as a summary of the work
performed by the Nomination Committee are set out under the heading of
“Nomination Committee” below.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3),
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation but are eligible for re-election by shareholders at the annual general
meeting provided that every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. New appointments to the Board are also subject
to re-election by shareholders at the next following annual general meeting.

Under the Code Provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be appointed
for specific term and subject to re-election. However, all the Independent
Non-executive Directors of the Company were appointed with no specific
term, but are subject to aforesaid rotation requirement in the Company’s
articles of association. The rotating Directors who are subject to retirement
and re-election at the 2011 annual general meeting are set out on page 33.

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees

The Directors meet from time to time to discuss and exchange ideas on
the affairs of the Company. The Board has set up four Board Committees,
namely the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Investment Committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Group’s affairs.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRS (E)

Board of Directors (continued)

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees (continued)
During the year, the following meetings of the Board, the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Investment
Committee were held and the attendance of the individual Directors at these
meetings is set out in the table below:

EE= 0w
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Number of meetings attended/held

Audit
Board Committee
ZEEE EREESY

EHERITEEREE
Remuneration Nomination Investment
Committee Committee Committee

FHESS REEES REZES

Executive Directors $|1T£%
Mr. OFI Kang, Eric Z % & 4/5  2/2 (Note FffzE)
Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie 5& 37 55 & &

(appointed on 1 September 2010)

(RZFE—ZFFNA—HEZ) 2/2 N/A 73 F
Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce A{R5atE+ 5/5 2/2 (Note [fzT)
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel 2 487x 54 5/5  2/2 (Note HffzT)

Non-executive Directors JEH{TESH
Mr. Tanguy Vincent SERRA

(appointed on 23 November 2010)

(R=ZF—FF+— A=+ =HEZF) NATER N/A i@
Mr. LIU Zhixin 27584 4£

(resigned on 1 September 2010)

(R=FE—FFEANA—HEHF) 0/3 N/A TNEF

Independent Non-executive Directors

BYEHITES

Mr. ZHANG Songyi 3R %4 3/5 1/2
Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Ernest &8k B 5 &= 5/5 2/2
Mr. YU Hon To, David g2 /8 5c 4 5/5 2/2

1/1 (Note Fffz¥) 1/1 (Note [fiz¥) 1/1
N/A 7~ N/A i R 1/1
1/1 (Note Ff5%) 1/1 (Note Fi#E) 1/1
1/1 (Note Hf&%) 1/1 (Note Fi#E) 1/1
N/A 7~ N/A N5 B 11

N/A A5 N/A A3 N/A i@ A

11 11 N/A i@
11 11 N/A @ A
11 11 N/A i A

Note: The Executive Directors attended the relevant meetings as invitees.
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Board of Directors (continued)

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees (continued)
Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular board meetings
to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for a regular meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board
papers are dispatched to the Directors or committee members at least 3
days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When directors or
committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they are advised of the
matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known
to the Chairman prior to the meeting.

Minutes of the board meetings and committee meetings are recorded in
sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and the committees
and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors.
Draft minutes of each board meeting and committee meeting are sent to the
Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the
meeting is held. All Directors have access to the company secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that the board procedures are complied with and
advising the Board on compliance matters.

Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional advice in
performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged
to access and to consult with the Company’s senior management
independently.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiries, all Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code during
the year ended 31 December 2010.

The Company has also adopted a code for dealing in the Company’s
securities by relevant employees, who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information in relation to the securities of the
Group, on no less exacting terms than the Model Code.

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
EEERRE (E)

EE= 0w
EEENESZTEEETE(H)
ADRBFETHRT 7 EETR @R ET
SR MRBN A2 BEERMKE S
ErHeSREREEEMASE LM

§$ KZEggdms —KRESELE
BH-RBOTERANKI=ZRAEEER

%&&é%@x#~%%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁi%%
BERRENXHIR SR ERL EE - WES
REZEGRBERELESE ﬁ%%%@%
BITHEBEGEFIMIEEANFE RS EBK
SREIRERFEEIER -

EFxEehTBEER2E:
EFXEe LB EMERFHAZIFBRMER
ZRE BREFZEMAREME -BEEFERE
EeeR RN ERANEZRTAN
B-—RABKEATRES UERER -2
REFHUEQARAWMERE ARANEASR
E%%E%?%%@EF’%%%&%EW
EFSRHUER

IRCERIG T D H D

EEARNETHRSE ZCBBEHRBLIESR
%E'E%E$“ﬂ%%'&%%%ﬁ@mﬂ
B RERAERRR D RERRE -

ESETRESZXGNERESTE

ARABEHRMETRRME T £m &
TAERETEFRZOBRETA (R EST
ANERRAGERETETESFRHIZET
SRl EEHARERR 2REFHER
RERBE_ZT-—ZTF+ _A=1+—HLF
E-—EHEBTHRETUHIZHAEFEE-

ARBTERMEBREEEARAESFLZ
SR ZEREUEEFEABASEE S Z
ARMBREBZRER - BERETREHERTER

RESTARR

EBRFERER ARAF ¢ —T-TFFR

19



20

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
ﬁ%g;ﬁiﬁ (:.EL)

Remuneration Committee

The Company had established a Remuneration Committee with written terms
of reference. The Remuneration Committee, chaired by an Independent
Non-executive Director, comprises three members namely Mr. ZHANG
Songyi, Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Ernest and Mr. YU Hon To, David, all of whom are
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure for
Directors and senior management, and reviewing their remuneration
packages. In arriving at its recommendations, the Remuneration Committee
will consult with the Chairman and the CEO whenever it thinks fit and take
into consideration factors such as the remuneration paid by comparable
companies, skill, knowledge, time commitment and responsibilities of
Directors.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting and reviewed
the remuneration policy and structure of Directors and the newly appointed
Directors. No Director was involved in deciding his own remuneration at the
meeting of the Committee. The attendance records of each member are set
out on page 18. Details of the Directors’ remuneration for the year are set out
in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company had established a Nomination Committee with written terms
of reference. The Nomination Committee, chaired by an Independent Non-
executive Director, comprises three members namely Mr. ZHANG Songyi,
Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Ernest and Mr. YU Hon To, David, all of whom are
Independent Non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee held one
meeting during the year and the attendance details of each member are set
out on page 18.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure, size
and composition of the Board, identifying suitable candidates for directorship,
assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors, and
making recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed appointment
or re-appointment.

During the year, the work performed by the Nomination Committee includes

assessing the qualification and experience of new candidates for directorship
and making recommendation to the Board on such matter.
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Audit Committee

The Company had established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference which have been updated from time to time to align with the Code
Provisions set out in the CG Code. The Audit Committee, chaired by an
Independent Non-executive Director, comprises four members namely Mr.
ZHANG Songyi, Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Ernest, Mr. YU Hon To, David, who are
Independent Non-executive Directors and Mr. Tanguy Vincent SERRA, who is
a Non-executive Director.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to, inter alia, review
and supervise the Group’s financial reporting process, internal control and risk
management procedures as well as oversee the adequacy of the accounting
and financial reporting resources.

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings together with
senior management and external auditor, the attendance details of each
member are set out on page 18. The major work performed by the Audit
Committee during the year included reviewing the interim and annual financial
statements, the continuing connected transactions, the internal audit reports
on the internal controls and risk management matters, as well as reviewing
and recommending the re-appointment of external auditor.

Investment Committee

The Company had established an Investment Committee with written terms
of reference. The Investment Committee, chaired by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric,
comprises five members namely Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, Mr. CHANG Li Hsien,
Leslie, Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce, Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel, who are
Executive Directors and Mr. Tanguy Vincent SERRA, who is a Non-executive
Director.

The principal responsibilities of the Investment Committee are to, inter alia,
reviewing and approving the Group’s material capital expenditures, monitoring
the execution of the investment on an ongoing basis, reviewing and approving
periodically policies and guidelines governing the Group’s investment portfolio
and monitoring compliance with those policies.

During the year, the Investment Committee held one meeting and the
attendance details of each member are set out on page 18. The major work
performed by the Investment Committee during the year included reviewing
the potential wind-farm projects and made recommendation to the Board on
project investments.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERBRE (B)

Auditor’s Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the fees in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided to the Group by the auditor amounted to
approximately HK$2,486,000 and HK$4,433,000 respectively. The non-
audit services mainly related to tax advisory services and corporate exercise
professional fee.

Internal Controls

The Group has had in place an integrated framework of internal controls which
is consistent with the COSO (the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission) framework. Under the framework, the
management is primarily responsible for the design, implementation and
maintenance of internal controls while the Board and its audit committee
oversee the actions of the management and monitor the effectiveness of the
controls that have been put in place. The framework and activities taken are
illustrated below:

l

. Risk awareness and control consciousness are built into culture of the
Group.

o PAKRESCECNRIARRBMREZEM

. Channels to communicate the Company’s commitment to integrity and
high ethical standards to the staff are established.

o RUREME TEEARQRE BN MR ERSBIRIRT 2R o

. Organisation chart, limits of authority and responsibility are set and
communicated to staff concerned.

o BRYEHZRER - #HERRAEMEHE  LAARE TEELRS -

|J

. Identification, evaluation and assessment of the key risks affecting the
achievement of the Group’s objectives are conducted from time to time,
forming the basis for determining control activities.

o TEHB - HERIRVEAEDERAFZEIEAR - HEMIERR
TESEIEER 2 B o

~

] Policies and procedures for ensuring management directives are carried
out.

. GlEBE KRR BREREZETEUHIT -

. Control activities include authorizations, approvals, performance
reviews, segregation of duties, asset security, access control,
documentation and records, etc.

o EEEDOERE F RIABS BAHS BEERE TR
L X ERE RS -

lj

. Pertinent information is identified, captured and provided to the right
person in a timely manner.

o ERE  BMBRFEEEALRMEBEN-

. Channels of communication across the Group and with external parties.

o HAKLERIINFRATEBUBBES-

~

Onging assessment of control system’s performance.
BRI REESEZRE -

Management and supervisory activities.
ERREBEY-

Internal audit activities.

NEBEZEE ©

e o o 0 o o

-
-
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Internal Controls (continved)

Control environment

The Group is a tightly-knit organization, the actions of management and its
demonstrated commitment to effective governance and controls are therefore
very transparent to all. The Group strives to conduct all business affairs based
on good business ethics and accountability. We have in place a formal Code
of Conduct & Business Ethics that is communicated to all staff members.
We aim to build risk awareness and control responsibility into our culture and
regard them as the foundation of our internal controls system.

No matter how well an internal controls system is conceived and operated,
it is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance. Recognising this, we maintain an effective internal audit function,
the Internal Control and Risk Management (“ICRM”) Department, whose main
features include:

(i) independence from operational management;

(i) fully empowered auditors with access to all data and every operation of
the Group;

(i)  adequate resources and well qualified and capable staff; and

(iv)  risk-based auditing, concentrating on areas with significant risks or
where significant changes have been made.

Risk management

The management has an ongoing process to identify, evaluate and manage
the risks faced by the Group. Each risk is rated in terms of probability of
occurrence and potential impact on performance, which serves as a basis
for better priority setting and resource allocation. Mitigation strategies and
plans with respect to each key risk identified are developed and implemented,
which include establishing or enhancing internal controls and procedures.

Heads of the departments, projects and business units also review and
analyse the key risks associated with achieving the objectives of their
particular departments, activities and businesses from time to time to provide
reasonable assurance that controls are both embedded and effective within
the business.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Internal Controls (continved)

Control processes
The Board establishes and maintains a sound internal controls system
through the following major processes:

M

(i)

(i)

(v)

(vil)

Systems and procedures are in place to identify and measure risks on
an ongoing basis. Senior management reviews and defines the risk
assessment process and monitor the progress of risk mitigation plans.

An organization structure with defined lines of responsibility and
delegation of authority is devised.

The Board reviews its strategic plans and objectives on an annual
basis.

Financial performance is analysed against budget with variances being
accounted for and appropriate actions are taken to rectify deficiencies.

Policies and procedures on key control activities are established to
ensure management directives are carried out.

Ranges of activities including approvals, authorization, verifications,
recommendations, performance reviews, asset security and
segregation of duties are identified and implemented.

The ICRM Department conducts reviews on the effectiveness of the
Group’s system of internal controls and tests key business processes
and controls in accordance with its audit plan, including following up
the implementation of management actions. The ICRM Department
reports directly to the Audit Committee and the CEO and has direct
access to the Board through the Audit Committee.
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Internal Controls (continved)

Review of internal control effectiveness

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls and
for reviewing its effectiveness. The ICRM Department reports on reviews
of the business processes and control activities, including action plans to
address any identified control weaknesses. The management evaluates and
conducts assessments of the overall system of internal controls, with action
plans to enhance the overall control system. External auditors also report
on any control issues identified in the course of their work. Taking these into
consideration, the Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s
system of internal controls at least once each year and reports to the Board
on such reviews.

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2010, the Board considered
the internal controls system effective and adequate. No significant areas of
concern that might affect the operational, financial reporting, and compliance
functions of the Group were identified. The scope of this review covers the
adequacy of resources, qualification and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function and their training and budget.

Price-sensitive information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of price-sensitive information, the Group has performed the
following actions:

(i) Management and relevant personnel are made aware of the Group’s
obligations under the Listing Rules and the overriding principle that
information which is expected to be price-sensitive and/or the subject
of a major decision should be announced immediately.

(i) Management and relevant personnel are required to conduct the
Group’s affairs with close regard to the “Guide on Disclosure of Price-
sensitive Information” and “Recent Economic Developments and the
Disclosure Obligations of Listed Issuers” issued by the Stock Exchange
in 2002 and 2008 respectively.

(i) ~ The Group has established a Code for Securities Dealing applicable to
those employees likely to have access to unpublished price-sensitive
information.

(iv)  Members of the Group’s top management are identified and authorised
to act as the Group’s spokespersons and respond to external
enquiries.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRS (E)

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 which give a true and fair
view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s results
and cash flows. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have
adopted generally accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong and suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and
estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial
statements on the going concern basis.

The statement of the Company’s auditor about their reporting responsibilities
on the financial statements of the Company is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 60 to 61.

Communication with Shareholders

The Board believes regular and timely communication with shareholders
forms part of the Group’s effort to help our shareholders understand our
business better. Copies of the annual reports and interim reports of the
Company are distributed to its shareholders in accordance with statutory
and regulatory requirements and also to interested parties recorded in the
Company’s mailing lists. The publications of the Company, including financial
reports, circulars and announcements, are also available on the Company’s
website at www.hkenergy.com.hk.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good communication
channel with the shareholders. At the general meeting, each substantially
separate issue will be considered by a separate resolution, including the
election of individual directors, and the poll procedures will be clearly
explained. The Chairman of the Board and the Chairmen of the relevant
Board Committees are available to attend the annual general meeting to inter-
face with and answer questions from the shareholders.
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Directors and Management Executives

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric

(Executive Director, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, aged 40, has been appointed as Executive Director,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 10 April 2008.
He also holds several directorships in other members of the Group. Mr. OEI
was educated in the USA and obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics
(with @ minor in Electrical Engineering), and a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration. Earlier in his career, he worked with Peregrine Securities Ltd.
and PCCW Limited in Hong Kong, the LG Group in Seoul and McKinsey &
Co. in Los Angeles, USA. Mr. OEl is currently an Executive Director of HKC
(Holdings) Limited (“HKC”), the shares of which are listed on the main board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and
the controlling shareholder of the Company. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of HKC. Mr. OEl is also a director and a shareholder of Claudio
Holdings Limited, the controlling shareholder of HKC.

Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie

(Executive Director & Vice Chairman)

Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie, aged 56, is an Executive Director and the Vice
Chairman of the Company since 1 September 2010. He also serves as a
director of certain members of the Group. Mr. CHANG was graduated from
George Mason University in U.S.A., he is a certified public accountant in the
State of New York, a member of The American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. CHANG started his career at US Office of KPMG (formerly known as
KPMG Peat Marwick) (the “Firm”) and became a partner specializing in the
financial services industry. He was also the Firm’s director of Chinese Practice
in the United States. He then joined CITIC Pacific Ltd in 1994 and was an
Executive Director and the Deputy Managing Director of the company. He
also served as an alternate director on the board of Cathay Pacific Airways
Limited. Both CITIC Pacific Ltd and Cathay Pacific Airways Limited are listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Since 1 September 2010, Mr. CHANG has been appointed as an Executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of HKC. He is also an independent
non-executive director of Pou Sheng International (Holdings) Limited, a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
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Directors and Management Executives (Continued)
EERTHEEAS (&)

Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce

(Executive Director & Managing Director)

Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce, aged 49, has been appointed as Executive
Director and Managing Director of the Company since 4 September 2009. He
also holds several directorships in other members of the Group. Reporting to
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Group, Dr. YUNG oversees
the operations of the Company, its subsidiaries and projects in the Mainland
China. Dr. YUNG is a veteran in the energy industry with over 25 years
working experience across Europe, Asia and in particular China during the
last 15 years. Prior to joining the Group, Dr. YUNG was the Vice President of
BP in China. Dr. YUNG has also held senior management positions in Entergy
Power Group (the IPP arm of Entergy Power Corporation) in China and British
Gas plc in the UK before joining BP. Dr. YUNG has a BSc(Hons) and a PhD
degree in Chemical Engineering from University of Birmingham and a MBA
from Henley Management College. He is a Corporate Member of the UK
Institution of Chemical Engineers and Institution of Gas Engineers; and is an
alumnus of the Advanced Management Program at Harvard Business School
in the US. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of HKC.

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel

(Executive Director)

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel, aged 47, has been appointed as Executive
Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Company since 1 December 2008.
He joined the Group in April 2008 as Qualified Accountant of the Company.
He also holds several directorships in other members of the Group. Mr.
LEUNG is a certified practising accountant of CPA Australia. Mr. LEUNG
obtained a Master’s Degree in Business from RMIT University of Australia. He
has over 20 years’ experience in auditing and finance management with an
international audit firm and other major conglomerates in Hong Kong. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. LEUNG was a director of internal control and risk
management of HKC. He is currently also a director of certain subsidiaries of
HKC.
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Directors and Management Executives (Continued)

Mr. Tanguy Vincent SERRA

(Non-executive Director)

Mr. Tanguy Vincent SERRA, aged 32, has been appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company since 23 November 2010. He is also a member of
the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. SERRA is a vice president of TPG
and is based in San Francisco and focuses on TPG'’s efforts in clean tech
investing. He joined TPG in 2004 in the London office and worked for three
years in Asia in the Singapore and Hong Kong offices. Mr. SERRA graduated
from Ecole Superieure de Commerce de Paris in 2001. Previously, he held the
position of alternate director to a non-executive director of Parkway Holdings
Limited (listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange) from 2008 to 2010.

Mr. ZHANG Songyi

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. ZHANG Songyi, aged 55, has been appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company since 10 April 2008. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. ZHANG obtained a Juris Doctor degree from
Yale University in 1985. Mr. ZHANG currently serves in senior management
and advisory capacities in several companies, including acting as the
chairman of Mandra Capital, a senior advisor of Morgan Stanley Asia Limited,
a director of SINA Corporation which is a company listed on the NASDAQ
Stock Market. Mr. ZHANG is currently an independent non-executive director
of China Longyuan Power Group Corporation Limited, the shares of which
are listed on the Stock Exchange. He was a non-executive director of China
Lumena New Materials Corp. (formerly known as “Lumena Resources
Corp.”) (resigned on 1 April 2011), the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange and a director of Suntech Power Holdings Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the New York Stock Exchange, in the last three years.
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EERTHEEAS (&)

Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Ernest

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Ernest, aged 60 has been appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 10 April 2008. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. TANG is a solicitor in private practice and at
present a partner and a consultant of two law firms respectively. Mr. TANG
graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree of
Laws and is admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong, England and Australia. He
is also a China Appointed Attesting Officer by the Ministry of Justice of China.

Mr. YU Hon To, David

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. YU Hon To, David, aged 63, has been appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 10 April 2008. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. YU is a fellow member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He obtained a
Bachelor of Social Science from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr.
YU was formerly a partner of an international accounting firm with extensive
experience in corporate finance. He is the Vice Chairman of MCL Partners
Limited, a Hong Kong-based financial advisory and investment firm.

Mr. YU is currently an independent non-executive director of TeleEye Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the GEM board of the Stock Exchange; stock
code: 8051) as well as the following companies listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange, namely China Datang Corporation Renewable Power
Company Limited (Stock Code: 1798), Sateri Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1768), Great China Holdings Limited (stock code: 141), Haier Electronics
Group Co., Limited (stock code: 1169), Media Chinese International Limited
(which is also listed in Malaysia; Hong Kong stock code: 685, Malaysia
stock code: 5090), One Media Group Limited (stock code: 426), Playmates
Holdings Limited (stock code: 635), Synergis Holdings Limited (stock
code: 2340), and VXL Capital Limited (stock code: 727). He was a former
independent non-executive director of Hantec Investment Holdings Limited
(now known as Cinda International Holdings Limited) (stock code: 111), and
Shun Cheong Holdings Limited (stock code: 650), which are listed on the
Stock Exchange, in the last three years. He was also an independent director
of BALtrans Holdings Limited, which was listed on the main board with stock
code: 562, but was delisted in April 2008.
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The directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) of Hong Kong Energy (Holdings)
Limited (the “Company”) have pleasure in presenting to shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2010.

Principal Activities and Geographical Analysis of
Operations

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of the Group are alternative energy business and software development
business. The activities of its principal subsidiaries and associated companies
are set out in pages 140 to 143 of the consolidated financial statements.
An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December
2010 by geographical and business segments is set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 are set out in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 62.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2010 (2009: Nil).

Closure of Register of Members

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be held on
1 June 2011 (“AGM”). In order to determine the identity of members who
are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers of ordinary shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Rooms 1712 — 1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on 27
May 2011.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
and the Company during the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Share Capital and Warrants

Details of movements in the share capital and warrants of the Company
during the year are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEGREE(BE)

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
of the Company and there is no restriction against such rights under the laws
of the Cayman Islands.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2010, calculated
in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (as revised),
amounted to HK$1,189.87 million (2009: HK$241.81 million).

Five-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 144.

Donations

During the year, the Group made no charitable and other donations (2009:
Nil).

Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie (Vice Chairman)
(appointed on 1 September 2010)
Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce (Managing Director)
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tanguy Vincent SERRA
(appointed on 23 November 2010)
Mr. LIU Zhixin
(resigned on 1 September 2010)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. ZHANG Songyi

Mr. TANG Siu Kui, Ernest

Mr. YU Hon To, David
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Directors (continueq)

At the AGM, Mr. OEI Kang, Eric and Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel will
retire from office by rotation in accordance with Article 85 of the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) and being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election to serve for another term. Further, Mr.
CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie and Mr. Tanguy Vincent SERRA who were newly
appointed by the Board on 1 September 2010 and 23 November 2010
respectively, will also retire from office in accordance with Article 84 of the
Articles of Association and will offer themselves for re-election as directors of
the Company.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-executive Director
an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock
Exchange and the Company considered all of them to be independent.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

Share Option Schemes

The Company’s existing share option scheme (the “HKE Option Scheme”)
was adopted on 27 May 2008. Particulars of the HKE Option Scheme are set
out below:

(@ Purpose

The principal purposes are to recruit and retain high calibre Eligible
Persons (as defined below) and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds an equity interest (“Invested Entity” or “Invested Entities”), to
recognise the significant contributions of the Eligible Persons to the
growth of the Group or Invested Entities by rewarding them with
opportunities to obtain ownership interest in the Company and to
further motivate and give incentives to these Eligible Persons to
continue to contribute to the long term success and prosperity of the
Group or Invested Entities.
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BEEEREE(E)

Share Option Schemes (continueq)

(b)

Eligible Persons

Any employee (whether full time or part time), senior executive or officer,
manager, director (including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive director) or consultant of any members of the Group
or any Invested Entity who, in the sole discretion of the Board, have
contributed or will contribute to the growth and development of the
Group or any Invested Entity.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

The total number of shares of the Company available for issue under
the HKE Option Scheme is 63,103,475 shares which represent 7.36%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this Annual
Report.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of options (whether exercised or outstanding) granted in
any 12-month period to:

(i) each Eligible Person must not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue; and

(i) a substantial shareholder or an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company must not exceed 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue and not exceed HK$5 million in aggregate
value.

Period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option

An option must be exercised within 10 years from the date on which it
is granted or such shorter period as the Board may specify at the time
of grant.
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Share Option Schemes (continueq)

()

Minimum period, if any, for which an option must
be held

At the time of the grant of an option, the Board must specify the
minimum period(s), if any, for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised.

Period open for acceptance of an option and
amount payable upon acceptance

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for acceptance for
a period of 10 business days from the date of offer and a consideration
of HK$1.0 must be paid upon acceptance.

Basis of determining the subscription price of an
option

The exercise price must be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant; (i) the average closing prices of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value
of a share.

Remaining life

HKE Option Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire on 27 May
2018 unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of the
HKE Option Scheme.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Exg

HREE (B

Share Option Schemes (continued) BREE =
Movements of share options granted under the HKE Option Scheme during R ERNRIBEBE K ETZN B X HIBRE 2 &8
the year are as follows: EARUNNE
Number of share options
BREHE
Adjustment
Outstanding at made during Outstanding at Exercise
Nature of 1 January Granted the year 31 December price per
Name of Directors interest 2010 (Note 2) (Note 1) 2010 Date of grant Exercise period (Note 3) share
(HKS)
R=Z-%%
RZB-2F ERfEtiz t=h
-R-H BRI AE =t+-H
BEpZ BEfE EESid (HH&2) (H&E1) HATR RiAH THE (FrEka) BRARE
(%7
Mr. CHANG LiHsien,  Personal - 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 1 September 2010 1 September 2011 to 0570
Leslie A —2-ZENA-A 31 August 2013
RUBLE —E—EnA-AE
ZF-=5\A=T-H
- 1,500,000 - 1,500,000 1 September 2010 1 September 2012 to 0.570
“Z-TENA-H 31 August 2014
—E-ZENA-AE
2-mENA=T-A
- 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 1 September 2010 1 September 2013 to 0.570
“T-TENA-H 31 August 2015
:gf_ﬁhﬂ EE
—2-RE/\A=1-H
Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, ~ Personal - 1,000,000 100,000 1,100,000 20 January 2010 20 January 2011 to 0.764
Bruce A “Z-ZF-A-1H 19 January 2013 (Note 1)
Bt “E—f-A-tHEZ (Fizt1)
“Z-=5-ATNB
- 1,500,000 150,000 1,650,000 20 January 2010 20 January 2012 to 0.764
“Z-FF-A-FH 19 January 2014 (Note 1)
—%- ‘E AZTRZ (FizE1)
Z-mE-A+NB
- 2,500,000 250,000 2,750,000 20 January 2010 20 January 2013 to 0.764
ZE-TF-AZ+H 19 January 2015 (Note 1)
_% ‘ﬁ AZTHRZE (Mizt1)
—Z-RE-ATAR
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEEREE (B

Number of share options
BREYE
Adjustment
Outstanding at made during Outstanding at Exercise
Nature of 1 January Granted the year 31 December price per
Name of Directors interest 2010 (Note 2) (Note 1) 2010 Date of grant Exercise period (Note 3) share
(HKS)
RZB-2F
RZB-2F FRfEtiz T8
-A-H BRI HE =t-"H
BEpZ EREE B RTE (HH&2) (&E1) HATR R AH 6 (HrEk3) BRARE
(&)
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum,  Personal - 500,000 50,000 550,000 20 January 2010 20 January 2011 to 0.764
Samuel A —E-FEE-A-1H 19 January 2013 (Note 1)
REREHE E—5-A-tHE (fizt1)
ZF-=5-AThA
- 750,000 75,000 825,000 20 January 2010 20 January 2012 to 0.764
“E-TE-A-+H 19 January 2014 (Note 1)
“2-—f-B-tRE (FizE1)
—E-mE-A+AA
- 1,250,000 125,000 1,375,000 20 January 2010 20 January 2013 to 0.764
“E-ZF-F-FH 19 January 2015 (Note 1)
Z2-ZE-A-1R%E (Mizt1)
“E-nE-A+NA
Total £t - 12,500,000 750,000 13,250,000
Notes: Btit

In accordance with the HKE Option Scheme, the exercise price of the share
option was adjusted from HK$0.840 per share to HK$0.764 per share, and
the total number of shares to be issued upon exercise of the outstanding share
options was also adjusted correspondingly on 1 June 2010 as a result of the
bonus issue of shares by the Company in June 2010. Such adjustments took
retroactive effect from 30 April 2010, being the day immediately following the
record date.

The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the date on
which the share options were granted on 20 January 2010 and 1 September
2010 were HK$0.727 (adjusted) and HK$0.530 respectively.

The share options will be vested and exercisable subject to the attainment of the
performance target as determined by the Board.

No share option was exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year.

IR1E & BT IR A E ARAR
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RIETTIEBE B & HR0.840/8 T i % A
HFRR0.7648 7T iy B 15 K 7T & BB IR 1
BTEMAIZETZREEETR=F
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Bl —F—FEPAHA =+ HRIEREZ
AR — H) B Y ERL -
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—FEFENA AR ERE—H X
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Share Option Schemes (continueq)

Using the Binominal model, the fair value of 7,500,000 share options
granted on 20 January 2010 (adjusted to 8,250,000 share options) was
HK$2,939,697 for the year under review. The significant inputs into the model
were share price of HK$0.764 (adjusted) at the grant date, exercise price of
HK$0.764 (adjusted), volatility of ranging from 60% to 72%, dividend vyield
of 0%, an expected option life of 3 years to 5 years and on normal risk-free
interest rate ranging from 1.003% to 1.877%. The volatility measured at the
standard deviation of continuously compounded share returns is based on
statistical analysis of weekly share prices over the last 12 months. The vesting
period is between 20 January 2011 to 19 January 2015.

The fair value of 5,000,000 share options granted on 1 September 2010 was
HK$1,375,985 for the year under review. The significant inputs into the model
were share price of HK$0.570 at the grant date, exercise price of HK$0.570,
volatility of ranging from 65% to 69%, dividend vyield of 0%, an expected
option life of 3 years to 5 years and on normal risk-free interest rate ranging
from 0.507% to 1.071%. The volatility measured at the standard deviation
of continuously compounded share returns is based on statistical analysis of
weekly share prices over the last 12 months. The vesting period is between 1
September 2011 to 31 August 2015.

The value of the share options is subject to a number of assumptions and
with regard to the limitation of model. Therefore, the value may be subjective
and difficult to determine.

Save as disclosed above, no share option was granted, exercised, cancelled

nor lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2010 under the HKE Option
Scheme.
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Share Option Schemes (continueq)

Share options of associated corporation of the Company:

The existing share option scheme of HKC (Holdings) Limited (the “HKC
Option Scheme”) was adopted on 16 June 2006. Particulars of the HKC
Option Scheme are set out below:

(@)

Purpose

The principal purposes are to recruit and retain high caliber Eligible
Persons (as defined below) and attract human resources that are
valuable to the HKC and its subsidiaries (the “HKC Group”) or any
entity in which any member of the HKC Group holds an equity interest
(“Invested Entity”) or Invested Entities, to recognise the significant
contributions of the Eligible Persons to the growth of the HKC Group
or Invested Entities by rewarding them with opportunities to obtain
ownership interest in HKC and to further motivate and give incentives
to these Eligible Persons to continue to contribute to the long term
success and prosperity of the HKC Group or Invested Entities.

Eligible Persons

Any employee (whether full time or part time), senior executive or officer,
manager, director (including independent non-executive director) or
consultant of any members of the HKC Group or any Invested Entity
who, in the sole discretion of the HKC board, have contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of the HKC Group or any
Invested Entity.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

The total number of shares of HKC available for issue under the HKC
Option Scheme is 632,990,383 shares which represent approximately
6.09% of the issued share capital of the HKC as at the date of this
Annual Report.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

The total number of shares of HKC issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options (whether exercised or outstanding) granted in any
12-month period to:

(i) each Eligible Person must not exceed 1% of the shares of HKC
in issue;

(ii) a substantial shareholder or an Independent Non-executive
Director of HKC must not exceed 0.1% of the shares of HKC in
issue and not exceed HK$5 million in aggregate value.
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Share Option Schemes (continueq)

C)

Period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option

An option must be exercised within 10 years from the date on which it
is granted or such shorter period as the board of HKC may specify at
the time of grant.

Minimum period, if any, for which an option must
be held

At the time of the grant of an option, the board of HKC must specify
the minimum period(s), if any, for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised.

Period open for acceptance of an option and
amount payable upon acceptance

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for acceptance for
a period of 10 business days from the date of offer and a consideration
of HK$1.0 must be paid upon acceptance.

Basis of determining the subscription price of an
option

The exercise price must be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of
the shares as stated in daily quotations sheet on the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing prices of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of a share.

Remaining life

The HKC Option Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire on 16
June 2016 unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms
of the HKC Option Scheme.
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Share Option Schemes (continueq)

Movements of share options granted to the Directors under the HKC Option

Report of the Directors (Continued)
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Scheme during the year are as follows: BFBEHLT
Number of share options
EREHE
Adjustment
Outstanding at made during Outstanding at Exercise
Nature of 1 January the year 31 December price per
Name of Directors interest 2010 Granted (Note 1) 2010 Date of grant Exercise period share
(HKS)
R=Z-%%
R=Z-%% Enfed TZA
-A-H AL =t+-H
BEpg EREE RATEE BRI (MzE1) BRTE RLAH g BRARE
(A7)
Mr. OEI Kang, Eric Personal 618,750 - 61,875 680,625 15 December 2006 15 December 2007 to 1.174
ElIEE EUN “EERE 14 December 2016 (Note 1)
TZA+ER ZTTHETZATRRE (F31)
2 ETZATImA
1,081,250 - 108,125 1,134,375 15December 2006 15 December 2008 to 1174
“EERE 14 December 2016 (Note 1)
TZATLA ZZZ\(+-ATHAZE (FizE1)
2 ETZATIA
330,000 - 33,000 363,000 1 February 2008 1 February 2009 to 1.368
—“ZINE 31 January 2018 (Note 1)
—A-H “EERNE-A-AE (Mizr1)
—2-\5-A=1-H
495,000 - 49,500 544,500 1 February 2008 1 February 2010 to 1.368
2 31 January 2018 (Note 1)
—A-H ZT-ZF-F-RAE (Mizt1)
—2-\5-A=1-H
825,000 - 82,500 907,500 1 February 2008 1 February 2011 to 1.368
“ZTN\E 31 January 2018 (Note 1)
—R-H I L E (Fizt1)
- \5-A=1-H
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
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Share Option Schemes (continued) BIRERTE @)
Number of share options
BREHE
Adjustment
Outstanding at made during Outstanding at Exercise
Nature of 1 January theyear 31 December price per
Name of Directors interest 2010 Granted (Note 1) 2010 Date of grant Exercise period share
(HKS)
RZE-2F
RZB-2F ERfEH t=H
-A-H A =+-H
BEpg BHEIEE i RATE BRi (MEE1) BRTE RHAH TEH BRARE
(A7)
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric Family 618,750 - 61,875 680,625 15 December 2006 16 December 2007 to 1.174
ERl%E EN3 ZZTRE 14 December 2016 (Note 1)
TZATLA ZZTtET-ATRRE (FizE1)
e Syt gy R =
1,031,250 - 103,125 1,134,375 15December 2006 15 December 2008 to 1.174
“EERE 14 December 2016 (Note 1)
TZATHA —ET\5+-AtHAZE (BizE1)
ZENETZA+IEE
330,000 - 33,000 363,000 1 February 2008 1 February 2009 to 1.368
“ZT\E 31 January 2018 (Note 1)
—R-H ZTTNFZF-RAE (Mizt1)
2 )\§-R=1-H
495,000 - 49,500 544,500 1 February 2008 1 February 2010 to 1.368
—ETNF 31 January 2018 (Note 1)
—A-H “Z-T4-A-HZ (fizE1)
- \5-A=1-H
825,000 - 82,500 907,500 1 February 2008 1 February 2011 to 1.368
s 2 31 January 2018 (Note 1)
—A-H “E——%-f-A% (BizE1)
2 \§-fA=1-H
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Share Option Schemes (continueq)

Report of the Directors (Continued)
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Number of share options
EREHE
Adjustment
Outstanding at made during Outstanding at Exercise
Nature of 1 January theyear 31 December price per
Name of Directors interest 2010 Granted (Note 1) 2010 Date of grant Exercise period share
(HKS)
RZE-2F
RZB-%F ERfEL T8
-A-H A =+-H
g BHME W RTE ERE (M1 HATRE REAH TRE BRITEE
(A7)
Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, ~ Personal - 6,000,000 - 6,000,000 1 September 2010 1 September 2011 to 0.488
Leslie A (Note 2) “Z-TFNA-H 31 August 2013 (Note 3)
RUBEE (Mizr2) ZE-—fNA-HE
“E-=F\A=1-H
Uik#)
- 9,000,000 - 9,000,000 1 September 2010 1 September 2012 to 0.488
(Note 2) —Z-ZFNA-H 31 August 2014 (Note 3)
(M3r2) “E-ZFNA-HEZ
“E-mENAZT-H
Uik
- 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 1 September 2010 1 September 2013 to 0.488
(Note 2) “Z-TFNA-A 31 August 2015 (Note 3)
(Mzr2) ZE-ZENA-HE
“E-RFN\A=T-H
UiE)
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum,  Personal 1,320,000 - 132,000 1,452,000 15December 2006 15 December 2007 to 1174
Samuel (EDN “EERE 14 December 2016 (Note 1)
PEREAE +ZA+HA ZZTtET-ATRAE (FizE1)
e Syt gy R =
2,200,000 - 220,000 2,420,000 15 December2006 15 December 2008 to 1.174
“EERE 14 December 2016 (Note 1)
TZATIA ZEENET-ATREE  (WE1)
ZE-R"ETZATHA
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Share Option Schemes (continueq)

Number of share options
BREHE
Adjustment
Outstanding at made during Outstanding at Exercise
Nature of 1 January the year 31 December price per
Name of Directors interest 2010 Granted (Note 1) 2010 Date of grant Exercise period share
(HK$)
RZZ-2F
R=2-%% ol TZA
-B-H AL =t+-H
B2iA EEME ESfLd BRH (1) HATR R AH TS BROEE
(B7)
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum,  Personal 440,000 - 44,000 484,000 1 February 2008 1 February 2009 to 1.368
Samuel A —EE\&-A—H 31 January 2018 (Note 1)
RRBEE ZETNF-R-HZ (FrzE1)
- \§-A=t-H
660,000 - 66,000 726,000 1 February 2008 1 February 2010 to 1.368
—ZT\§ZA-H 31 January 2018 (Note 1)
“Z-ZF-f-RAZE (BizE1)
- \5-A=1-H
1,100,000 - 110,000 1,210,000 1 February 2008 1 February 2011 to 1.368
—“ZFE\F-A-H 31 January 2018 (Note 1)
—T--F-f-HZ (F31)
Z-\§-A=t-H
Mr. LIU Zhixin Personal 1,980,000 - 198,000 2,178,000 15 December 2006 15 December 2007 to 1.174
It b {EIN ZELRE 14 December 2016 (Note 1)
(Resigned on +ZA+HA ZERLETCATRAR (Mizr1)
1 September 2010) 2 E+ZATHA
(W=2-%%
NR—BEfE) 3,300,000 - 330,000 3,630,000 15December 2006 15 December 2008 to 1.174
“EERE 14 December 2016 (Note 1)
TZATHA —ET\5+-AtHAZE (BizE1)
ZENETZA+EE
594,000 - 59,400 653,400 1 February 2008 1 February 2009 to 1.368
“ZTN\F-A-H 31 January 2018 (Note 1)
ZETNF-R-HE (FrzE1)
—2-\5-A=1-H
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

EExgREEE
Share Option Schemes (continued) BIRERTE @)
Number of share options
LB HE
Adjustment

Outstanding at made during Outstanding at Exercise
Nature of 1 January the year 31 December price per
Name of Directors interest 2010 Granted (Note 1) 2010 Date of grant Exercise period share
(HKS)

R=2-%%

RZB-2F ER{EL =

-B-H ZiBE =t-H
EE ERNE EEXd BRH (FreE1) HATR RiLAH TEH BROEE
(B7)
Mr. LIU Zhixin Personal 891,000 - 89,100 980,100 1 February 2008 1 February 2010 to 1.368
iy EIN “EEN\E-A-B 81 January 2018 (Note 1)
(Resigned on ZT-ZFZf-RAE (FizE1)

1 September 2010) 2 \§-RA=1-H
(R=F-%& 1,485,000 - 148,500 1,633,500 1 February 2008 1 February 2011 to 1.368
MNA—BEE) “EEN\E-A-B 81 January 2018 (Note 1)
ZT—%”f-HE (FriE1)
- \&-A=t-H
Total 85t 20,670,000 30,000,000 2,057,000 52,627,000

Notes:

In accordance with the HKC Option Scheme, the exercise prices of the share
options were adjusted from HK$1.291 per share and HK$1.505 per share to
HK$1.174 per share and HK$1.368 per share respectively, and the total number
of shares to be issued upon exercise of the outstanding share options was
also adjusted correspondingly on 1 June 2070 as a result of the bonus issue of
shares by HKC in June 2010. Such adjustments took retroactive effect from 30
April 2010, being the day immediately following the record date.

The closing price of the shares of HKC immediately before the date on which the
share options were granted on 1 September 2010 was HK$0.480.

The share options will be vested and exercisable subject to the attainment of the
performance target as determined by the HKC board of directors.

No share option granted to the Directors under the HKC Option Scheme was
exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year.
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Share Option Schemes (continueq)

Using the Binominal Valuation model, the fair value of 30,000,000 share
options granted on 1 September 2010 was HK$5,658,878 for the year under
review. The significant inputs into the model were share price of HK$0.480 at
the grant date, exercise price of HK$0.488, volatility of ranging from 59% to
64%, dividend yield of 1.570%, an expected option life of 3 years to 5 years
and on normal risk-free interest rate ranging from 0.507% to 1.071%. The
volatility measured at the standard deviation of continuously compounded
share returns is based on statistical analysis of weekly share prices over
the last 12 months. The vesting period is between 1 September 2011 to
31 August 2015. The value of the share options is subject to a number of
assumptions and with regard to the limitation of model. Therefore, the value
may be subjective and difficult to determine.

Save as disclosed above, no share option was granted to the Directors,
exercised, cancelled nor lapsed by the Directors during the year ended 31
December 2010 under the HKC Option Scheme.
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Directors’ Interests in Securities

At 31 December 2010, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules adopted by the
Company were as follows:

() Long positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company:

Report of the Directors (Continued)
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ESNES 2ER

RN_E—ZTF+_A=+—HB KEELAK
DA EBITHABR AR R S E E A BB
BE(TEABHFARBERANTESRBEK
Bl)) EXVERZ B tn - AR REHFFHEE
BRENESRHRERIEREREFENE
EfMzESEAR KREBEARRRMAZ £
TRAIMNS+AE ETRITAEZETES
Q%E’J’ﬁ‘jf‘iﬁﬁﬂ(ﬁ?fﬁﬁﬁu)% TEAME K
ARz ERRARDT

() REARTARODREBEROZHFER:

Approximate
percentage of

Number of existing issued
shares and share capital
Name of Directors Nature of interest underlying shares of the Company
EARARRBEE#RT
BENE ERtE IR0 R AR BB RABLABE DL
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric Corporate! 2,088,349,249 243.664
=M 5 A& NG
Personal? 1,190,848 0.139
& A2
Joint? 18,001,085 2.100
S
Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie Personal 5,000,000 0.583
RIBEE EPNG
Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce Joint® 480,000 0.056
AiRsiE + H[F]s
Personal® 5,500,000 0.642
&l A8
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel Personal” 2,750,000 0.321
RERRTE & A7
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Directors’ Interests in Securities (continued)

(i)

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company: (continued)

Since as at 31 December 2010 HKC was held as to approximately
89.04% by Claudio Holdings Limited (“Claudio”) (via its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Creator Holdings Limited (“Creator”) and Genesis Capital
Group Limited (“Genesis”)), a company owned as to 50% by Mr. OEl
Kang, Eric and as to the remaining 50% by his wife, Mrs. OEl Valonia
Lau, Mr. OEl Kang, Eric is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of
shares of the Company in which HKC is interested. The corporate interest
of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric includes (i) an interest in 507,179,732 shares of the
Company held by HKC; (i) an interest in a zero coupon convertible note
issued by the Company to HKC with a principal amount of RMB73.5
million carrying rights to convert into 82,126,965 shares of the Company
at the conversion price of HK$1.0113 per share (subject to adjustment);
(i) an interest in the 1,385,170,068 convertible preferred shares issued
and allotted by the Company carrying rights to convert into shares of the
Company at the initial conversion rate of 1 convertible preferred share to
1 share (subject to adjustment); and (iv) an interest in 70,579,593 shares
of the Company and an interest in 43,292,891 underlying shares of the
Company in respect of warrants issued by the Company held by Genesis.

The personal interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest
in 1,190,848 underlying shares in respect of warrants issued by the
Company.

The joint interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in 3,949,614
shares of the Company and an interest in 14,051,471 underlying shares in
respect of warrants issued by the Company jointly held with his wife, Mrs.
OEl Valonia Lau.

The personal interest of Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie represents an
interest in 5,000,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted by
the Company as detailed in “Share Option Schemes” section above.

The joint interest of Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce represents an interest in
440,000 shares of the Company and 40,000 underlying shares in respect
of warrants issued by the Company jointly held with his wife.

The personal interest of Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce represents an
interest in 5,500,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted by
the Company as detailed in “Share Option Schemes” section above.

The personal interest of Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel represents an
interest in 2,750,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted by
the Company as detailed in “Share Option Schemes” section above.
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Directors’ Interests in Securities (continued)

(i) Long positions in the shares and underlying

Report of the Directors (Continued)
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shares of associated corporation of the Company: BZEFE:
Number of Approximate
shares and percentage of
underlying existing issued
Name of shares of share capital
associated Nature of the associated of the associated
corporation Name of Directors interest corporation corporation
IERECEEIRE
HRECERE Z R 5 BEITRAE
HEEZEER BESE8 EEME RAERDEE MABEDL
HKC Mr. OEl Kang, Eric Personal 20,897,310 0.201
EHBER = Ml 5 & & A
Corporate? 4,529,345,273 43.637
NGIE
Joint? 126,242,591 1.216
H A
Family4 3,630,000 0.035
EN &
Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie Personal’ 30,000,000 0.289
RIBEE & As
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel Personal® 6,292,000 0.061
RERFE & Ao
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
BEEEREE(E)

Directors’ Interests in Securities (continued)

)

Long positions in the shares and underlying
shares of associated corporation of the Company:
(Continued)

The personal interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in
17,267,310 underlying shares in respect of warrants issued by HKC and
an interest in 3,630,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted
by HKC as detailed in “Share options of associated corporation of the
Company” section above.

The corporate interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest
in 1,321,841,532 shares of HKC held by Creator, and an interest in
2,730,623,382 shares of HKC and an interest in 476,880,359 underlying
shares in respect of warrants issued by HKC held by Genesis. Creator
and Genesis are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Claudio, a company owned
as to 50% by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric and as to the remaining 50% by his wife,
Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau.

The joint interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in
91,195,648 shares of HKC and an interest in 35,046,943 underlying
shares in respect of warrants issued by HKC jointly held with his wife,
Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau.

The family interest of Mr. OEI Kang, Eric represents an interest in 3,630,000
underlying shares in respect of options granted by HKC to Mrs. OEIl
Valonia Lau as detailed in “Share options of associated corporation of the
Company” section above.

The personal interest of M. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie represents an interest
in 30,000,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted by HKC
as detailed in “Share options of associated corporation of the Company”
section above.

The personal interest of Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel represents an
interest in 6,292,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted
by HKC as detailed in “Share options of associated corporation of the
Company” section above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company held any interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein or were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Directors’ Right to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ Interests in Securities”
above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement that enabled the Directors or any of their spouses
or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Businesses

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric and Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie are executive directors of
HKC and Dr. YUNG Pak Keung, Bruce and Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel
are directors of certain subsidiaries of HKC. One of the business activities of
the HKC Group is alternative energy business in the PRC.

Mr. YU Hon To, David is an independent non-executive director of China
Datang Corporation Renewable Power Company Limited which is engaged in
alternative energy business.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their respective associate(s)
was interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests in
Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected Transactions” in
this Report of the Directors and “Related Party Transactions” in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statement, no contract of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests

As at 31 December 2010, the following persons (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company) had interests in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
336 of the SFO:
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Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of RAEAQABRRGOREERD ZHE
the Company

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the existing

shares and issued share

underlying shares capital of

Name Nature of interest of the Company the Company

EARRARRE

AABRD R 2EITRA

28 s EHEME HEROHE BYBED

HKC Beneficial owner? 1,974,476,765 230.378%

BEAERER BEHERBAN

Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau Family2 2,107,541,182 245.904%
NExz+ K k2

Claudio Corporate?® 2,088,349,249 243.664%
NGIE

Genesis Corporate* 113,872,484 13.286%
%4l AR

Mr. David BONDERMAN Corporate® 560,000,000 65.340%
NEIY

Mr. James G. COULTER Corporate® 560,000,000 65.340%
NI

Tarrant Capital Advisors, Inc. Corporate® 560,000,000 65.340%
NCIE

Tarrant Advisors, Inc. Corporate® 560,000,000 65.340%
NN

TPG Ventures Professionals, LP. Corporate® 560,000,000 65.340%
NEIN

TPG Ventures Partners, LP. Corporate® 560,000,000 65.340%
NTE

TPG Ventures Holdings, LLC Corporate® 560,000,000 65.340%
NEIN
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Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of

Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEEREE (B

RARBDBRORBERG 2FR

the Company (continued) (4
Approximate
percentage of
Number of the existing
shares and issued share
underlying shares capital of
Name Nature of interest of the Company the Company
HARAREE
NI 758 2BITRAK
28 HE EEME HERMDEE BHEDH
TPG Star Advisors, LLC Corporate® 560,000,000 65.340%
NGIE
TPG STAR GenPar, LP. Corporate® 560,000,000 65.340%
NGIE
TPG STAR, LP. Corporate® 560,000,000 65.340%
NGIE
STAR Butterfly Energy, Ltd Corporates 560,000,000 65.340%
NGIE
Notes: Bt at -
1. The beneficial interest of HKC includes (i) an interest in 507,179,732 shares 1. EHEREREREREENEBERNF
of the Company held by HKC; (i) an interest in a zero coupon convertible 507,179,732/18 X 22 al IR 17 .2 # 25 © (i) R 2 &]
note issued by the Company to HKC with a principal amount of RMB73.5 ] & EFE R AT 7T K 2 BE A A K B 73,600,000
million carrying rights to convert into 82,126,965 shares of the Company at T W] 75 R FI A 2R (B AR 1.01138 7T (7] T
the conversion price of HK$1.0113 per share (subject to adjustment); (i) an 5B B ) B2 14 582,126,965 /8 K 1\ Al R 17 .2 E .8
interest in the 1,385,170,068 convertible preference shares issued and allotted Al RR ZjE 2 1 as + R (iii) K 2 & B 377 K B
by the Company carrying rights to convert into shares of the Company at the #1,385,170,068 /1% A] #2 K 18 5t fig [1f 7% 4 71 AT
initial conversion rate of 1 convertible preference share to 1 share (subject to 12 4] 25 50 #8375 1 B8 A 12 R 1B 5F iR A0 12 1 iR AKX
adjustment). NERG (A FEE) BEBANBIRG#E
2. Mrs. OFl Valonia Lau is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of shares of 2. BIBEX L WHERBRENEEWEEHE HE

the Company in which Mr. OEl Kang, Eric is taken to be interested (as detailed in
“Directors’ Interests in Securities” section above).
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Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company (continveq)

Notes: (Continued)

3. Claudio is beneficially interested in 39.04% of the issued share capital of HKC (via
its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Creator and Genesis) and thus, is deemed to be
interested in the same parcel of shares and underlying shares of the Company
in which HKC is interested. In addition, as Genesis is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Claudio, and thus, Claudio is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of
shares and underlying shares of the Company in which Genesis is interested.

4, The corporate interest of Genesis includes an interest in 70,579,593 shares
of the Company and an interest in 43,292,891 underlying shares in respect of
warrants issued by the Company.

5. The corporate interest includes an interest in 300,000,000 non-voting convertible
preference shares of the Company carrying rights to convert into shares of the
Company at the initial conversion rate of 1 preference share to 1 share (subject
to adjustment) (“Preference Shares”) held by STAR Butterfly Energy, Ltd (“STAR”);
and a capital commitment right to require the Company to issue to STAR or its
affiliate up to a maximum of 260,000,000 additional Preference Shares (subject
to adjustment) at a price of HK$0.75 per additional Preference Share.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2010, the Company had not
been notified by any person, other than Directors and chief executive of the
Company, who had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which are required to recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 336 of Part XV of the SFO.

Connected Transactions

On 12 May 2010, the Company (as the Purchaser), Hong Kong Energy
(Holdings) Ltd. (a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands) (as the
Vendor) and HKC (as the Vendor Guarantor) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”), on the terms and subject
to the conditions thereof pursuant to which the Purchaser agreed to acquire
from the Vendor the entire issued share capital (the “Sale Share”) of HKE
(BVI) Limited (the “Target Company”) which in turn beneficially holds certain
attributable interests in all the wind farms and waste-to-energy plant for the
HKC Group (excluding those held by the Group as at the date of the Sale
and Purchase Agreement). The Purchaser also agreed to acquire from the
HKC Group (excluding the Group) all rights and interests in the indebtedness
owed by the Target Company and its subsidiaries to the HKC Group in the
aggregate amount of HK$1,001.1 million (the “Loans”) on the terms and
subject to the conditions set out in the Sale and Purchase Agreement (the
“Acquisition”).
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Connected Transactions (continued)

The consideration for the Sale Share and the Loans under the Sale and
Purchase Agreement is HK$1,018.1 million, payable on the completion
by way of issue and allotment of 1,385,170,068 convertible preference
shares (“CPSs”), credited as fully paid, by the Purchaser to the Vendor or its
nominee(s). The CPSs, when issued, are convertible into new shares of the
Company at the conversion rate of one CPS for one new share initially.

HKC is the controlling shareholder of the Company as at the date of the
Sale and Purchase Agreement, accordingly, HKC is a connected person
of the Company and the transactions contemplated under the Sale and
Purchase Agreement constitute connected transactions for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and are subject to the approval of
the independent shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company. At the extraordinary general meeting held on 26
July 2010 (the “EGM”), the resolutions approving the Sale and Purchase
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder were duly passed
by the independent shareholders by way of poll, and HKC and its associates
abstained from voting in the related resolutions.

The Acquisition completed on 31 August 2010. Details of the Acquisition are
set out in the circular of the Company dated 30 June 2010.

Continuing Connected Transactions

On 14 August 2008, the Group entered into an Agreement for Office Space
and Services Provision with HKC Group, in relation to the granting of a
license to occupy and use the office space and the provision of management
services by HKC to the Group, and the sharing of administrative expenses for
the period from 1 August 2008 to 31 December 2010.

The entering into of the Agreement for Office Space and Services Provision
and the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute continuing
connected transactions (the “Continuing Connected Transactions”) of the
Company under Rule 14A.14 of the Listing Rules, of which the granting
of the license and the provision of the management services are subject
to the reporting and announcement requirements under the Listing Rules.
The annual caps for the granting of the license and the provision of the
management services under the Agreement for Office Space and Services
Provision in respect of the year ended 31 December 2010 are HK$1,603,000
and HK$6,942,000 respectively.
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BEEEREE(E)

Opinion from the Independent Non-executive Directors
on the continuing connected transactions

In accordance with rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules, the Independent
Non-executive Directors of the Company have reviewed and approved
the Continuing Connected Transactions and the Continuing Connected
Transactions were carried out in accordance with the following principles:

(@  inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)  on normal commercial terms no less favourable than terms available
from independent third parties;

(c) in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreement governing the
Continuing Connected Transactions; and

(d)  on a fair and reasonable basis and in the interest of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole.

Report from the auditor on the continuing connected
transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing
his findings and conclusions in respect of the abovementioned continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group in accordance with Main
Board Listing Rule 14A.38. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided
by the Company to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Disclosure pursuant to Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules

The Company announced on 23 December 2010 that HKE (Da He) Holdings
Limited (“HKE (Da He)”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered on that date into a counter guarantee with F &35E/E 112 TR (D
AR /A7 (CECEP Wind-Power Corporation®) (‘CECWP”, formerly known
as FEER BB E AR A7) (China Energy Conservation Windpower
Investment Company Limited”)), pursuant to which HKE (Da He) agreed to
counter-guarantee CECWP for 30% of all liabilities and expenses which may
be incurred by CECWP under the guarantee executed by CECWP in favour
of the China Development Bank (“CDB”) dated 25 October 2010 in respect
of the loan facility in the principal amount of RMB621,520,000 (the “Facility”)
extended by CDB (the “Counter Guarantee”) to FREfgE B LA 1 3EE (K1)
AR A7) (CECIC HKE Wind Power Co., Ltd.”) (the “JV”). Such percentage
represents the Group’s equity interest in the JV and the financial assistance
provided indirectly by way of the Counter Guarantee constituted a major
transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules.

In accordance with the requirement under Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules, the
pro forma combined balance sheet of the affiliated company and the Group’s
attributable interests in the affiliated company based on its latest financial
statements available are presented below:
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Group’s

Combined attributable

balance sheet interests

EHEERER REBEGER

HKS$ million HKS$ million

BEET BEAT

Assets BE 6,768.5 2,591.0

Liabilities BfE (4,144.0) (1,579.0)

Net assets BEFE 2,624.5 1,012.0
Management Contract EEAEX

Apart from the Agreement for Office Space and Services Provision dated
14 August 2008 described under “Continuing Connected Transactions”
above and those disclosed under the heading “Related Party Transactions” in
note 33 to the consolidated financial statements, no contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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ME

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the Group had 3 customers only and the percentages of the
Group’s sales attributable to the major customers are as follows:

Sales:
- The largest customer 74%

- The remaining customers 26%

The Group purchases less than 30% of its goods and services from its 5
largest suppliers for the year.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or Shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any interest in the Group’s customer noted above.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed shares during the year ended 31 December
2010.

Corporate Governance

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 15 to 26.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Specified employees
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information
of the Group are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code. A Code for Securities Dealings by
Employees has also been adopted in this regard.

Retirement Benefits Schemes

Information on the Group’s retirement benefits schemes is set out in note 10
to the consolidated financial statements.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.
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Review of the Annual Report by Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company comprises three independent non-
executive Directors with written terms of reference in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules, and reports to the Board. The audit
committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2010.

Auditors

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 December
2009 and 2010 have been audited by Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers who
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment. A resolution
for the reappointment of Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Update on Directors’ Information

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, change in the information of
the directors of the Company since the date of the 2010 Interim Report is set
out below:

Mr. CHANG Li Hsien, Leslie (Executive Director and
Vice Chairman)

Mr. CHANG was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Pou
Sheng International (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange on 7 March 2011.

Mr. YU Hon To, David (Independent Non-executive
Director)

Mr. YU was appointed on 28 October 2010 as an independent non-executive
director of Sateri Holdings Limited, which shares were listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange on 8 December 2010.

Mr. YU was also appointed on 1 July 2010 as an independent non-executive
director of China Datang Corporation Renewable Power Company Limited,
which shares were listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange on 17
December 2010.

On behalf of the Board

OEI Kang, Eric
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2011
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZEEREE

-
pwec

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HONG KONG ENERGY
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED

(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong Energy
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
set out on pages 62 to 143 which comprise the consolidated and company
balance sheets as at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2289 8888 Fax : +852 2810 9888
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December
2010, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2011

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
e EWAIRE

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_ T ZTF+_A=+—HILFE

62

2010 2009
—E-=F —TEENF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
F 5 FE T FA&T
Revenue &= 5 24,110 10,609
Cost of sales SHERZA 6 (18,565) (4,896)
Gross profit EF 5,545 5,713
Selling and distribution costs FHE Ny tHA AR 6 - (1,552)
Administrative expenses THER 6 (56,508) (36,161)
Other expenses HitwEA 7 (4,735) (817)
Operating loss RS (55,698) (82,817)
Finance income 01T ON 8 804 443
Finance costs BB KA 8 (10,852) -
Finance (costs)/income — net B (AR ) /WA — 58 (10,048) 443
Gain on deregistration/disposal of subsidiaries ~ HUEz T, HEME A TS 145 7,624
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over ~ FTUEE E = FE Y A EBT
cost of acquisition (including both arising WEEK A (BIEREME AR
from subsidiaries and associated companies) Rt NTE) 285 85 386,553 27,693
Fair value gain on derivative liabilities METAREAEZATFERR 17,018 =
Share of profits less losses of associated FE(GES & A B AR
companies B 19 21,750 (289)
Profit before income tax Fﬁﬁfrﬁﬂul 2 6] 359,720 2,654
Income tax expense SR> 11 (24,396) (14,336)
Profit/(loss) for the year $$f§7‘ﬁ‘éﬂ/ (518) 335,324 (11,682)
Other comprehensive income: Hin2EWA :
Currency translation differences PE N E =58 53,396 32
Other comprehensive income for the year, REEFEHEMEEUWA - HIBRFIIE
net of tax 53,396 32
Total comprehensive income/(expense) AEEZEBA(BH)ELE
for the year 388,720 (11,650)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: AT EAES=F (B518)
Equity holders of the Company RARRRERFE A 336,311 (10,431)
Non-controlling interests Bl il T (987) (1,251)
335,324 (11,682)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) LU (G2 EWA (B H) %
attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company RABIRRERITE A 388,960 (10,399)
Non-controlling interests IR IR o (240) (1,251)
388,720 (11,650)
Dividends BE 14 - =
Profit/(loss) per share for profit/(loss) AARIRREREFEA
attributable to the equity holders EAEEF (Fi8) 2
of the Company, expressed in BRREF(FE)
(HK cents per share) (UAERELTIR) 13
- Basic — &K 39.67 (1.36)
— Diluted — s 23.09 1.36)

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2010



Consolidated Balance Sheet

meBEE8ER
n‘/_F
As at 31 December 2010
R-T-FE+-A=+—H
2010 2009
—E-FF —EENEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B = FET FB T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment MEE - BB NRERE 15 509,067 442
Construction in progress FRIR 16 501,515 3,311
Prepaid land lease payments T8 £ 7 & UIE 17 17,032 =
Intangible assets mREE 18 191,895 5,539
Interests in associated companies REEE R A 2 19 1,011,962 208,076
Total non-current assets IRBEELE 2,231,471 217,368
Current assets MENE E
Inventory 78 6,091 -
Trade and other receivables JT'EE 1 B SR e L th E W 5k 21 160,599 6,457
Restricted cash SR &#IE 4 22 957 -
Cash and cash equivalents BeLMBEEEY 23 362,555 172,226
Total current assets REBEEHAE 530,202 178,683
Total assets EEHAE 2,761,673 396,051
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves attributable to KATRRERETE A
equity holders of the Company B RAR S
Share capital & 7 24 25,422 7,726
Reserves & 25 1,631,945 299,288
Equity attributable to equity holders KATRREREFE A
of the Company FE(EFE &= 1,657,367 307,014
Non-controlling interests JE 12 BR FE = 23,680 -
Total equity AR 1,681,047 307,014
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities FERBERE
Bank borrowings RITfE K 26 660,560 =
Convertible note Al R E i 27 78,287 76,007
Deferred income tax liabilities EEMERHE 1§ 29 76,894 4,643
Total non-current liabilities IFBEER 815,741 80,650
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables FEAT BR 3k I E A PR A 3 m 31 104,151 8,387
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary FEAT — [ R K Bt /8 A Al RKIE 28 20,125 -
Derivative liabilities MTETEARE 30 75,500 -
Current portion of bank borrowings SRITIE R BNHAEE 26 65,109 -
Total current liabilities mEA F HE 264,885 8,387
Total liabilities EE8E 1,080,626 89,037
Total equity and liabilities EnkaEEemn 2,761,673 396,051
Net current assets RBEEFE 265,317 170,296
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABRARBARB 2,496,788 387,664
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Balance Sheet
EEBER

As at 31 December 2010
RoZ—BF+-A=+—H

2010 2009
—E-EF —EENEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B = FE T T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHBRRZEE 20 21,518 21,307
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables o e WKk 21 328 52
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE W BT B8~ &) 5K IE 20 1,261,044 221,990
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEEEEY 23 307,281 154,981
Total current assets REEEMEE 1,568,653 377,023
Total assets EEHTE 1,590,171 398,330
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves attributable to equity APRAEZEBAERLRAR
holders of the Company i
Share capital B& 7K 24 25,422 7,726
Reserves s 25 1,189,865 241,811
Total equity ey 1,215,287 249,537
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Convertible note B S 27 78,287 76,007
Deferred income tax liability BELEMSHARE 29 787 1,163
Total non-current liabilities IR BEERTE 79,074 77,170
Current liabilities mEEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries RSN IENGI B 20 215,714 66,799
Derivative liabilities METEAERE 30 75,500 -
Other payables A FE 1 3k 31 4,596 4,824
Total current liabilities eI =R E L] 295,810 71,623
Total liabilities BEHE 374,884 148,793
Total equity and liabilities EakaEREE 1,590,171 398,330
Net current assets RBEEFEE 1,272,843 305,400
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABRARBAER 1,294,361 326,707
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity
Gy gy LB

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-_ZT-—ZH+-_A=1+—HIEFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARARE R R AR

Employee
Share-based Non-
Share Share  Exchange compensation Other Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserves eamings Total interests equity
EERH

kA ROEE  EXEE  AEREE  A6EE  REEN R hRhES  EReE
HK§000  HKS000  HKS0OD  HKS000  HKSOO0  HKBOOD  HKS000  HKSO000  HKEO0O
THL THL TRL TR TRL TR THL T THL

Balance at 1 January 2009 RZEENE-A—H

25 7,635 175 1,085 - - 299,916 308,811 13913 322,724
Loss for the year KEEFR - - - - - (10,431) (10481) (1,251) (11,682)
Other comprehensive income ~ Efti2F A
Currency ranslation differences  ERAEZ%E - - k7 - - - 2 - 2
Total comprehensive income ~ 2E WAL - - 2 - - (10,431) (10,399) (1251) (11,650)
Exercise of bonus warrants TR FARER 91 2,626 - - - - 2,717 - 2,717
Convertible note - equity TARZE-#%

component, net of tax B9 MBHAE - - - - 5,885 - 5,885 - 5,885

Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAF - - - - - - - (12,662) (12,662)
Balance at 31 December 2009 W=ZZhE+=f

=+-REH 7,126 2,801 1,117 - 5,885 289,485 307,014 - 307,014

EEMEREZER)ARAA ¢ —T—TFFR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity
RERREBER

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE_ZT T+ -_A=1+—HIEHFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RARRREREEAELR

Employee

share-based Non-
Share Share  Exchange compensation Other Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserves eamings Total interests equity

BERH
Bx  BRoeE EXRE #AERE  HbEE  REERY 2% FERERZ  BRAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TR TR TR TR TR TR TR TER

Balance at 1 January 2010 RZZ-Z25-4-H
& 7,126 2,801 1,117 - 5,885 289,485 307,014 - 307,014
Profit/loss) for the year REERH/ (5E) - - - - - 3311 333 087 335324
Other comprehensive income A2 E WA
Currency translation differences  EX#EZHE - - 52,649 - - - 52,649 747 53,396
Total comprehensive income ~ 2EWALE - - 52,649 - - 336,311 388,960 (240) 388,720
Share options granted BRLERE - - - 1,631 - - 1,631 - 1,631
Exercise of bonus warrants T FARER 67 1,917 - - - - 1,984 - 1,984
Issue of bonus shares BOAR bt ) - - - - - - -
Issue of convertible preference  R{TA AR E %R
shares 16,852 940,550 - - - - 957,402 - 957,402
Acquistion of subsidiaries WERH B AR - - - - - - - 23,920 23,920
Reversal of deferred tax liabilies &[0 & o] AR E HiE5
related to equity componentof A EEZ BT
convertible note REEE - - - - 376 - 376 - 376
Balance at 31 December 2010 HR=Z-FF+=F
=+-REH 25,422 944,491 53,766 1,631 6,261 625,796 1,657,367 23680 1,681,047
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

an\ EE:%/)H:E%

For the year ended 31 December 2010
HE-_Z-—ZF+-_A=1+—HILFE

2010 2009
—=-—=F5 _"_TTNF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
F 5 FE T FA&T
Cash flows from operating activities REEBRCHERE
Cash used in operations EEAR® 34(a) (45,568) (25,474)
Income tax paid E FET S = (60)
Income tax refunded REMBH = 26
Net cash used in operating activities BEEFFTRAREFE (45,568) (25,498)
Cash flows from investing activities RETZHZEHERE
Interest received 24 F E 793 566
Cash acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries I HEM B A R & 35(a) 104,630 -
Acquisition of intangible assets WHEEEEE = (172)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BBAYE KRR RE (3,042) (186)
Addition to construction in progress NEEETR (6,568) (6,495)
Increase in restricted cash PR Il R & 18 0 (31) -
Proceeds from P85 IE R B
— disposal of subsidiaries —HENB QA 34(c) - 18,999
— disposal of property, plant and equipment —LEME  HERZE - 15
— disposal of construction in progress —HETEETRE - 3,184
Investment in an associated company BER—BEHE AT - (110,010)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEESE ()
investing activities & F 8 95,782 (94,099)
Cash flows from financing activities METE2EERE
Repayment of bank and other loans EERITREMERK (65,109) -
Proceeds from issuance of bonus warrants BTN RRERTERIE 1,984 2,717
Proceeds from issuance of convertible BITAIRRELRAE
preference shares RIA 195,000 -
Interest paid B B (15,291) -
Advance from a fellow subsidiary —RHRRENBAR ZE R 20,125 =
Net cash generated from financing activities BMEFRDMEHESFRE 136,709 2,717
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HERE % = ff Wi hn,
cash equivalents Rt 2) 186,923 (116,880)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—H— EI Ziﬁ/\“ﬁ kR &
ZEM 172,226 289,095
Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents R4 RIE S ZEY 2 E X K 3,406 11
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R+ -A=+—HzZ2H&LK
NEZLEEBY 362,555 172,226
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

n‘/T\

BB ERRM

General information

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited (“the Company” or “HKE”) is an
exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability. The address of the registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “the Group”) are
principally engaged in alternative energy business and software
development business. The Group has operations mainly in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. The ultimate holding company is HKC (Holdings)
Limited (“HKC”), a company incorporated in Bermuda and listed in
Hong Kong.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands
of units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$ thousand or HK$’'000), unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2011.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong Energy
(Holdings) Limited have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRS”). They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of derivative liabilities, which are carried at fair value.

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(@)  New and amended standards and interpretation adopted
by the Group
HKAS 7 (Amendments) Statement of cash flows
HKAS 17 (Amendments)  Leases
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and separate

financial statements

HKAS 38 (Amendments)  Intangible assets

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business combinations

HKFRS 8 (Amendment) Operating segments

HK(IFRIC) — Int 17 Distribution of non-cash assets
to owners
HK — Interpretation 5 Presentation of financial

statements — classification
by the borrower of a term
loan that contains a
repayment on demand
clause

The above new and amended standards and interpretation,
which are mandatory for the first time for the financial year
beginning 1 January 2010, do not have material impact to
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HREMBHRRMT

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)
(b)  Amended standards and interpretations mandatory for the
first time for the financial year beginning 1 January 20710
but not currently relevant to the group (although they may
affect the accounting for future transactions and events)

HK(IFRIC) 18 Transfers of assets from
customers

HK(IFRIC) 9 Reassessment of embedded
derivatives

HK(IFRIC) 16 Hedges of a net investment in

a foreign operation

HKAS 1 (Amendment) Presentation of financial
statements
HKAS 36 (Amendment) Impairment of assets

HKAS 39 (Amendments)  Financial instruments:
Recognition and
measurement

HKFRS 2 (Amendments)  Group cash-settled
share-based payment
transactions

HKFRS 5 (Amendments)  Non-current assets
held for sale and
discontinued operations
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continues) 2

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(Continued)

©

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TEE

REMBwRMEE

TR E @)

21 RBIEYE ()

New and revised standards, amendments and (c)
interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective
for the financial year beginning 1 January 2010 and have
not been early adopted by the Group

BT HEBEREN B E ()

EEmER-_E-—ZFF—H
— H 45 B B F E 5 K £
R AN 5 B AL AR IR F IR A
Z AT RAEAEETER -~ 2 ET
ARERE

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

REAT BHisk 2 1%
Ft6 2 &5t B A X

HKAS 32 (Amendments)

BB ST EREI25 (BT A)
HKFRS 9

BE M HREERFER
HKAS 24 (Revised)

B S E R F 2455 (BASET)
HKAS 12 (Amendments)

BB G LR FE125% (BFTAX)
Amendments to HK (IFRIC) — Int 14

B (BB EREREZE D)
—REF14R 2 EET
HK(FRIC) - Int 19

HEH(BERMBHREREZER)
—ZEE195%
Annual improvements project

FREBEEE

The Group has not early adopted the above standards,
amendments and interpretations and is not yet in a position
to state whether substantial changes to the Group’s
accounting policies and presentation of the financial
statements will result.

Classification of rights issues

RS

Financial instruments

SRt TA

Related party disclosures

FAEE 5 2 BER

Deferred tax: Recovery of underlying
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HREMBHRRMT

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)
2.2 Consolidation

@

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies generally accompanying
a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that
are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the group controls another
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The group uses the acquisition method of accounting to
account for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and
the equity interests issued by the group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in
subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising
from contingent consideration amendments. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the company on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

@

®)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the
case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the statement of comprehensive income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the group.

Transactions with non-controlling interests

The group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests as transactions with equity owners of the
group. For purchases from non-controlling interests,
the difference between any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in
equity.

When the group ceases to have control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HREMBHRRMT

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)
(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests

()

(Continued)

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

Interests in associated companies

Associated companies are all entities over which the
Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50%
of the voting rights. Interests in associated companies
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting
and are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s interests
in associated companies includes goodwill (net of any
accumulated impairment loss) identified on acquisition.

The Group’s share of its associated companies’
post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
and its share of post — acquisition movements in
other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount
of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in
an associated company equals or exceeds its interest in
the associated company, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associated company.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
its associated companies are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the associated companies. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associated companies have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(©

Interests in associated companies (Continued)
Dilution gains and losses arising in interests in associated
companies are recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

In the Company’s balance sheet the interests in associated
companies are stated at cost less provision for impairment
losses. The results of associated companies are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Changes in accounting policy

The group has changed its accounting policy for
transactions with non-controlling interests and the
accounting for loss of control or significant influence from
1 January 2010 when revised HKAS 27, ‘Consolidated
and separate financial statements’, became effective. The
revision to HKAS 27 contained consequential amendments
to HKAS 28, ‘Investments in associates’.

Previously transactions with non-controlling interests were
treated as transactions with parties external to the group.
Disposals therefore resulted in gains or losses in profit or
loss and purchases resulted in the recognition of goodwill.
On disposal or partial disposal, a proportionate interest in
reserves attributable to the subsidiary was reclassified to
profit or loss or directly to retained earnings.

Previously, when the group ceased to have control or
significant influence over an entity, the carrying amount of
the investment at the date control or significant influence
became its cost for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interests as associates or
financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HREMBHRRMT

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)
(c) Interests in associated companies (Continued)

Changes in accounting policy (Continued)

The group has applied the new policy prospectively to
transactions occurring on or after 1 January 2010. As
a consequence, no adjustments were necessary to any
of the amounts previously recognised in the financial
statements.

2.3 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker (“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the directors of the Company
that make strategic decisions.

2.4 Foreign currency translation
(@) Functional and presentation currency

Following the disposal of the pilot project in Hong Kong for
production of cellulosic ethanol, management considers
there is a shift of operational and financial focus to the
Company’s PRC involvements. Therefore the Company’s
functional currency has changed from Hong Kong dollars
to Renminbi with effect from June 2009. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars to
facilitate analysis of the financial information of the Group,
which is listed in Hong Kong. The change of functional
currency has no significant financial impact to both the
Group and the Company.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)

2.4 Foreign currency translation continued)
(c) Group companies

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation

currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the

date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each consolidated
statement of comprehensive income are translated
at average exchange rates (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at

the dates of the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in

other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations are
taken to other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange
differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income as part of the gain

or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing

rate.
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, comprising leasehold
improvement, plant and machinery, motor vehicles and furniture,
fixtures and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method, to write off their cost over their
estimated useful lives or remaining useful lives for those second-
hand assets and the estimated useful lives are as follows:

Plant and machinery
Leasehold improvement

5-20 years

Shorter of the lease
period or 5 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-5 years

Motor vehicles 3-5 years
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount of the
asset or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated will
flow to the Group and the cost of item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are charged in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within other income/expenses in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)

2.6

2.7

2.8

Construction in progress

All direct and indirect costs relating to the construction of
property, plant and equipment including borrowing costs during
the construction period are capitalised as the costs of the assets,
which are classified as construction in progress. On completion,
the construction in progress is transferred to property, plant
and equipment at cost less accumulated impairment losses. No
depreciation is provided on construction in progress.

Prepaid land lease payments

Prepaid land lease payments are stated at cost and subsequently
are amortised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease
or when there is impairment, the impairment is expensed in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. During
the course of the properties development, the amortisation
charged is included as part of the costs of the properties under
development.

Intangible assets

(@ Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of net
identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date
of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries
is included in intangible assets. Separately recognised
goodwill is tested for impairment at every reporting period
and are carried at cost less accumulated impairment loss.
Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to
those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the business
combination in which the goodwill arose.

(b) Concession right
Concession right acquired in a business combination
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The
concession right has a finite useful life and is carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method
over its concession right period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HREMBHRRMT

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)

2.8

2

Intangible assets (continued)

(c) Customer relationships
Customer relationships acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The
customer relations have a finite useful life and are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method
over their estimated useful live of 5 years.

(d) Software technology know-how

Software technology know-how acquired in a business
combination is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. The software technology know-how has a finite
useful life and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method over its estimated useful live
of 5 years.

(e) Biomass technology
Separately acquired biomass technology has a finite useful
life and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment, if any. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method over its estimated useful live of 5
years.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries,
associated companies and non-financial
assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwiill,
are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment
at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)
2.10 Financial asset

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: at fair value through profit or loss and loans and
receivable. The classification depends on the purpose for which
the financial assets were acquired. Management determine the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(@) Financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is
classified in this category if acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current
assets.

(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than twelve months after the
balance sheet date. These are classified as non-current
assets. The Group’s loans and receivables comprise “trade

and other receivables”, “cash and cash equivalents” and
“restricted cash” in the balance sheet.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade-date — the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised
at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried
at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair
value, and transaction costs are expensed in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)

2.10 Financial asset (continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the
“financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” category
are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income within other income/expenses, in the period in which
they arise. Dividend income from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as part of other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

For the purposes of assessing the fair value of unlisted securities,
the Group established fair value by using valuation techniques.
These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions,
reference to other instruments that are substantially the same,
discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models, making
maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on
entity-specific inputs.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there
is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired.

2.11 Derivative financial instrument

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair value at each balance sheet date. The
change in the fair value is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

2.12 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBEHRRMEE

2 Summary of significant accounting policies contiesy 2 FTEEFTHEEE @)

2.13 Trade and other receivables 2.13 FE WL BR 7X &% L b F& U 3%

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables is established when
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able
to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of
the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor,
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The
amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
The amount of the provision is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. When a trade receivable
is uncollectible, it is written off against other expenses in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

2.14 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities
on the balance sheet.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Convertible preference share

Convertible preference shares are classified as equity that
can be converted to share capital at the option of the holder.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds. Convertible preference shares are recognised
initially at the fair value.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date in the countries where the Group’s subsidiaries and
associated companies operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation
is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the
tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the
balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)
2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising
on investments in subsidiaries and associated companies, except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

2.19 Convertible note

Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise
convertible notes that can be converted to share capital at the
option of the holder, and the number of shares to be issued does
not vary with changes in their fair value.

The liability component of a compound financial instrument is
recognised initially at the fair value of a similar liability that does
not have an equity conversion option. The equity component is
recognised initially at the difference between the fair value of the
compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of
the liability component. Any directly attributable transaction costs
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion
to their initial carrying amounts.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a
compound financial instrument is measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The equity component of a
compound financial instrument is not re-measured subsequent
to initial recognition except on conversion or expiry.

When the note is converted, the relevant equity component and
the carrying amount of the liability component at the time of
conversion are transferred to share capital and share premium for
shares issued. When the note is redeemed, the relevant equity
portion is transferred to retained profits.
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)

2.20 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

2.21 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying
asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. Other
borrowing costs are expensed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)
2.22 Employee benefits

@

(®)

Employee leaves entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme
(“MPF”) and employee pension schemes established by
municipal government in the PRC for the eligible employees
in Hong Kong and the PRC respectively.

The Group’s and the employees’ contributions to the MPF
comply with the related statutory requirements. The Group
has no further payments obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The Group’s contributions to the MPF are
expensed as incurred and are not reduced by contributions
forfeited by those employees who leave MPF prior to
vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund
or a reduction in the future payments is available. The
asset of MPF is held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds.

The Group’s contribution to the employee pension
schemes in the PRC is at a percentage in compliance with
the requirements of respective municipal governments.
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2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)
2.22 Employee benefits (continued)

(©

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan in which the entity receives services
from employees as consideration for equity instruments of
the Group. The fair value of the employee services received
in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an
expense. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market
vesting conditions which are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are expected to become
exercisable. At each balance sheet date, the entity revises
its estimates of the number of options that are expected
to become exercisable. It recognises the impact of the
revision of original estimates, if any, in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, and a corresponding
adjustment to equity over the remaining vesting period.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal
value) and share premium when the options are exercised.

2.23 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax

that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)
2.24 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the provision of services in the ordinary course
of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of business tax
within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group’s activities as described below. The amount
of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until all
contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. The Group
bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration
the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of
each arrangement.

(i) Revenue from alternative energy is recognised based on
power dispatch during commercial operation. Commercial
operation starts when obtaining a Power Purchase
Agreement, safety certificate from the State Electricity
Regulatory Commission (SERC) or Provincial Grid
Authority, and 240 hours commissioning.

(i) Revenue from provision for software development service

is recognised when the services are rendered.

(i) Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

(iv)  Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

2.25 Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the statement
of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period
of the lease.

2

REMB®wRMEE

FESTHTHREBE @
2.24 W 2= R

W ASEERFXBKBRET
RERBOHERIEERERF
B WaREMREERRERINE -

EWE SRR EAE O RKRE
ENSEREUERATRER M
AEBESRESHHNAE T XM
ZEBHRNE  AREESERK
mo RIFEEERMNMARAS
BHEFER  BRANEESETRE
REHAEAE - AEEGREHE
FRYZEEZFEMN RXZBEHEM
BEZ MRS EEL A -

) REBRERZEDERE
HELEFRZENRAE -1
ESBEHE: BXENE
EZEE(EEG)XEEH
BEERBLZZE2EERE
17240/ NS HETTR - T EF
IREREE -

(i) REEHEKFRABRSEZK
TR A R AR A 1R AR o

(i) A A AR B R R R B
1 Lt ] i 38 o

(iv) BB M AT i SZ U R 2 A

Ry B R ©

melE
EERBRZERNR AR KE
BENEEEZHE DRERKE
EHE RELEHEXNZHIA
EMBFEREERRZEMNES
% REEHANEREERAS R
EU AR IO

ERFERER ARAA ¢ —T-TFFR

89



90

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

VAN
=5

51 %5 R AR B B

2  Summary of significant accounting policies (continueq)

3

2.26 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or
the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements. When a change
in the probability of an outflow occurs so that the outflow is
probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

2.27 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved.

Financial risk management
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign exchange risk, price risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s major financial instruments
include trade and other receivables, restricted cash, cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other payables, derivative liabilities,
bank borrowings and convertible note. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.

It is the policy of the Group not to enter into derivative transactions
for speculative purposes. The only derivative the Group entered
is related to an equity transaction with STAR Butterfly Energy Ltd
(“STAR”). as disclosed in note 24 (f).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
The Board of Directors focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance. The Board of Directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they
are summarised below.

@

(®)

()

Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland
China and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
future commercial transaction and monetary assets and
liabilities that are denominated in a currency that is not the
entity’s functional currency.

The Group currently does not have any foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management of the Group
monitors the foreign exchange exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2010, if US dollars and Hong Kong
dollars had strengthened/weakened by 5% against
Renminbi respectively, with all other variables held
constant, the Group’s profit before income tax would have
been HK$19,502,000 and HK$18,573,000 higher/lower
respectively.

Price risk

The Group exposes to price risk in relation to the
subscription right of convertible preference shares granted
to STAR. As at 31 December 2010, if the share price
of the Group increased/decreased by 5%, the Group’s
profit before tax would have decreased/increased by
HK$4,400,000 and HK$4,200,000 respectively.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from bank borrowings.
Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk due to fluctuation of the
prevailing market interest rate. The Group’s income and
operating cash flows are dependent on changes in market
interest rates.

The Group does not use any derivative contracts to hedge
its exposure to interest rate risk. However, management
will consider hedging significant interest rate exposures
should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2010, if the interest rate had increased/
decreased 100 basis points with all other variables held
constant, the Group’s profit before income tax would have
decreased/increased by HK$7,257,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBHRRMT

3  Financial risk management (continuea)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(@

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk in its restricted
cash, cash and cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables.

The carrying amounts of restricted cash, cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other receivables represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets.

To manage the credit risk associated with restricted cash
and cash and cash equivalents, most of the deposits are
placed with certain state-owned banks in the PRC which
are high-credit-quality financial institutions and banks with
high credit rankings in Hong Kong.

To manage the credit risk associated with restricted cash
trade and other receivables, the Group adopts risk control
measures to assess the credit quality, to determine credit
limits and approve credit of customers, taking into account
their financial position and past experience. The Group has
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.

The Group is exposed to significant concentration of
credit risk in terms of electricity sales as the majority of
the Group’s sales of electricity were made to provincial
power grid companies. The Group normally grants credit
terms of 30 days to these power grid companies and
the Group normally does not require collateral from trade
debtors. Ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables
is disclosed in Note 21. Management makes periodic
collective assessment as well as individual assessment
of the recoverability of trade and other receivables based
on historical payment records, the length of the overdue
period, the financial strength of the debtors and whether
there are any disputes with the relevant debtors. The
Group’s historical experience in collection of trade and
other receivables falls within the recorded allowances and
the directors are of the opinion that adequate provision for
uncollectible receivables has been made.

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(e

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its
current obligations when they fall due. The Group measures
and monitors its liquidity through the maintenance of
prudent ratios regarding the liquidity structure of the overall
assets, liabilities, loans and commitments of the Group.
The Group also maintains a conservative level of liquid
assets to ensure the availability of sufficient cash flows to
meet any unexpected and material cash requirements in
the course of ordinary business.

The following table details the Group’s contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities at the balance sheet date. The table
has been drawn up with reference to the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group is required to pay. Balances due within
12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of
discounting is not significant.

3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBWmRE

3  Financial risk management (continuea)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3 HUXKERERw®w
3.1 MEEREREZX®E)

(e) Liquidity risk (Continued) (e MEELREEE)
Between Between
Lessthan 1and2 2and5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
—FR —ZEZWMFE ZEZEHEF BFULE Mt
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
F#& T THEXT FHERT FTHER FE T
Group REE
At 31 December 2010 RZE—FF
+=HA=+—8
Bank borrowings RITIE 69,276 71,794 215,386 415,656 772,112
Trade and other payables & {5 BE 3% K2 £
FE 5P 3R 104,151 - - - 104,151
Amount due to a fellow B —RER R
subsidiary NG 20,125 - - - 20,125
Convertible note AR E - - 87,009 - 87,009
At 31 December 2009 R-ZZEZTNF
+=A=+—H
Trade and other payables  F& {5} BE 3k & B 4th
& A5 3R 8,387 - - - 8,387
Convertible note Al AR =4 - - 83,055 - 83,055
Later than
1 year but
No later no later than
than 1 year 5 years Total
ER—F8
—F R TERESF #at
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
F#E T FE T FEx
Company RKAF
At 31 December 2010 NZE—FF
+t=—A=+—AH
Amounts due to FET KB R A
subsidiaries RIE 215,714 - 215,714
Other payables H b B 3R 4,596 = 4,596
Convertible note R E i - 87,009 87,009
At 31 December 2009 R-ZZEZTNF
+=—A=+—H
Amounts due to XS ENG
subsidiaries IE 66,799 - 66,799
Other payables H fth & 1~ 3R 4,824 - 4,824
Convertible note R Z i - 83,055 83,055
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMB®wRMEE

Financial risk management (continued) 3 MHEERERE®
3.2 Capital risk management 32 EXEBET
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard REETE ﬁ ZIK ZRERRER
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order SEFEBELCEEB 2N BKE
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other RERRBERFRSAEMERTE
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to ATERA S WHEFRENE AR
reduce the cost of capital. BB ERKA
The Group monitors capital by reviewing the capital structure. AREBZEAEMNERAEBERESA
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt and equity Ko B GEERBBRAT A
attributable to equity holders of the Company, as shown in the SECEAEBREEBEAA
consolidated balance sheet. The Group considers the cost ARRERIEE ABGEZ A&
and the risk associates with the capital. In order to maintain or EZEESKARER - BAERFH
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount HEEARER ZK%"% EkeRAER
of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or conduct Hx%ﬁﬁZJﬂx S & BATE R
shares buy-back. TR0 @ o
The gearing ratios as 31 December 2010 and 2009 were as RZE—ZFRZZZTNF+=
follows: R=T—HZzEAXABRELEENT :
Group
&
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZTTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FH T
Current borrowings B fE R 65,109 -
Non-current borrowings E NIRRT 738,847 76,007
Total borrowings & AE g 803,956 76,007
Less: Cash and cash equivalents R ERREEEY
(including restricted cash) (BEXRGIE®) (363,512) (172,226)
Net debt / (cash) position &%,/ CRE) FHEMRR 440,444 (96,219)
Total equity T o5 R 1,681,047 307,014
Gearing ratio ERBELR 26.2% N/A 6 A

ERFERIZER)ERAT o

— = T EER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

8

e MR AR A

Financial risk management (continved) 3 MHEERRERE@
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AFEME
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair TEREAGBBEZERATFEI R
value, by valuation method. The different levels have been ZEBITAETH - AEKRIFR
defined as follows: EWT :
- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical - BRUBENBEEXEER
assets or liabilities (level 1). BTS2 ECREHAR) (%
14R) -
- Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 — REBIRFTAZBEAINA
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly B (ANEBER) Sk H#E (A
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) BRERELEE)BREEN
(level 2). BEMBH/AEE (B24) °
- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on = I[?Hziz—féﬁ 2= 5 &R (B3
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level IBEMEHRAEB)CEE
3). IE%&AEH@%@%
The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that TREJINAEER_ZTE—ZTF
are measured at fair value at 31 December 2010. +TZ A=+ —HBiZ ”& TEFEZ
BERAE-
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
1R F 24 £ 34K # AR
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET FB T FiExT FHET
Derivative liabilities TETEREEE - 75,500 - 75,500

The fair value of financial instruments that are not in an active
market is determined by using valuation techniques. These
valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market
data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments
include:

- The fair value of derivative liabilities is determined using
Binominal model.

The carrying values of restricted cash, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables and the carrying value
of other payables approximate their fair values due to their short
maturities.

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

(@)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and concession
right

The Group tests whether property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and concession right have suffered any
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable in
accordance with the accounting policy. The calculations use pre-
tax cash flow projections based on the next five financial years.

Estimations of sales, profit margin (before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortization expenses) and operating cash
outflows are based on the business unit’s past performance and
management expectations for future development of the market
and the business. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant segments.

An impairment charge of HK$4,735,000 arose in the software
development business during the year, resulting in the carrying
amount of the cash generating unit being written down to zero.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBHRRMT

4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continveq)

(b)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management of the Company and its subsidiaries determine
the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for
its property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on
projected wear and tear incurred during power generation. This
could change significantly as a result of technical renovations on
power generators. Management will adjust the estimated useful
lives where useful lives vary with previously estimated useful
lives. It is reasonably possible, based on existing knowledge, that
outcomes within the next financial year that are different from
current assumptions could require material adjustments to the
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment.

Acquisition of subsidiaries

The initial accounting on the acquisition of subsidiaries involves
identifying and determining the fair values to be assigned to
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
acquired entities. The fair values of investments in associated
companies, property, plant and equipment, land use rights and
concession right are determined by reference to market prices
or by using financial models. Any changes in the assumptions
used and estimates made in determining the fair values, and
management’s ability to measure reliably the contingent liabilities
of the acquired entity will impact the carrying amounts of these
assets and liabilities.

Fair value of financial and equity instruments
Where the fair value of equity instruments or financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded in the balance sheet cannot be
derived from active markets, they are determined using valuation
techniques including the use of recent arm’s length transactions,
reference to other instruments that are substantially the same,
discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing model and share
prices of the Company. The inputs to these models are taken
from observable markets where possible, but where this is not
feasible. A degree of judgement is required in establishing fair
values.

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continveq)

(e) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for
which ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for potential
tax exposures based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will affect the income tax and deferred tax provision in the period
in which such determination is made.

() Allowances for bad and doubtful debts
The policy for allowance of bad and doubtful debts of the Group
is based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis
of receivables and management’s judgement. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, including the creditworthiness
and the past collection history of each customer.

Segment information

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the directors
of the Company (the “Directors”). The Directors review the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance, allocate resources
and make strategic decisions by business segment. The Directors
determine that the operating segments are the same as the business
segments. In this regard, the reportable operating segments are
alternative energy and software development segments.

The Group’s revenue is primarily derived from the generation of
electricity and the sales of software.

The Directors assess the performance of operating segments based
on a measure of segment results and share of profits less losses of
associated companies. This measurement basis excludes the effects of
non-recurring expenditure from the operating segments, such as gain
on deregistration/disposal of subsidiaries, excess of fair value of net
assets acquired over cost of acquisition and provision for impairment
losses. Fair value gain on derivative liabilities and other corporate
expenses are also not included in the segment results as they
mainly represent the income and expenses arising from the holding
companies. Other information provided to the Directors is measured in
a manner consistent with that in the financial statements.
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Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited

BRI R M T

Segment information (continued)

Total segment assets exclude corporate assets which are centrally
managed. This is part of the reconciliation to total consolidated
balance sheet assets. Corporate assets mainly include cash and cash
equivalents, other receivables and prepayments held by the head office.

The segment information provided to the Directors for the reportable

D EBE R @)

DHEERETEBRTREEZILRXE
E-UTREKAEERBREERE
ZHB MO HKE bXEETEBRRA
MERTAZRSRASEFEYD Hit

JE U R e FELA SRR

RAE2HoMAEFRHEE

—T-%

EFE

segments for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 are as ERZFBFENFT_A=+T—H
follows: ZAHMERAT
2010 2009
-g-%% “TINF
Total Total
Alternative Software  reportable  Alternative Software reportable
energy development  segments energy development segments
2R B
ERER  BARE HHes BRER HHRZE e
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT FAET FHET TAET
Revenue g 17,897 6,213 24,110 - 10,609 10,609
Segment results DEEE (7,7119) (1,065) (8,784) (5,369) (2,975) (8,344)
Provision for impairment losses 3 18 & 18 # 45 - (4,735) (4,735) = (817) (817)
Gain on deregistration/disposal  EUHE /&
of subsidiaries Wi 2 Al & - 145 145 7,624 - 7,624
Share of profits less losses of &1 B & 1A &) ¥ 7
associated companies HEE 21,750 - 21,750 (289) - (289)
Excess of fair value of net assets P& &= E 2
acquired over cost of DA YA
acquisition (including both (BEREMBAR
arising from subsidiaries and K& A FE)
associated companies) ZHE 386,553 - 386,553 27,693 - 27,693
Finance income FHRA 49 142 191 8 106 114
Finance costs BERA (8,572) - (8,572) - - -
Profit/(loss) before income tax  F7 58 A& F,/ (E12) 392,061 (5,513) 386,548 29,667 (3,686) 25,981
Income tax (expense)/credit FiE8 (X)) #4 (25,399) 1,003 (24,396) (14,862) 526 (14,336)
Profit/(loss) for the year KEERF/(BR) 366,662 (4,510) 362,152 14,805 (3,160) 11,645
Depreciation e 9,999 197 10,196 - 512 512
Amortisation 2 5 2,851 902 3,753 2,456 2,023 4,479
Provision for impairment losses 5 {8 /&5 18 # f&
— property, plant and equipment  —# % « # R KR - 269 269 - - -
~ computer software — BB - 129 129 = = =
— customer relationship and - RE B RGBT
software technology e
know-how = 4,337 4,337 = 817 817

e Annual Report 2010



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBEHRRMEE

5 Segment information (continved) 5 SDEER @
The segment assets as at 31 December 2010 and 2009 are as follows: RZE-—ZEER_FTZENF A
=T—RAZHMWEEMT :
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZTNF
Total Total
Alternative Software  reportable  Alternative Software reportable
energy development  segments energy development segments
2R 2
SRR B4EE 28 BERR  BHREE S5
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR THT THT THT
Total segment assets NBEERE 2,437,057 14,814 2,451,871 217,863 20,985 238,848
Total segment assets include: DB ELERLE :
— Interests in associated - UNCIWA
companies 1,011,962 - 1,011,962 208,076 - 208,076
— Additions to non-current -AEHRBEE
assets 16,329 - 16,329 6,495 358 6,853

A reconciliation of profit for the year of total reportable segments to

profit/(loss) for the year of the Group is provided as follows:

A2 5 8 A 4 % ) 8 4 B A

FEEN(BE)EERMT:

2010 2009

—E-EF —EENF

HK$°000 HK$’000

THExT T T

Profit for the year of total reportable segments A 2 %} 43 & 48 5t 78 £E [ % F) 362,152 11,645

Unallocated amounts: ROMESEE :

— Fair value gain on derivative liabilities —-METAEBEZATE

Uz 17,018 _

— Other corporate expenses, net —H b R S F AR (43,846) (23,327)

Profit/(loss) for the year NE R F(EIE) 335,324 (11,682)

ERFERIZER)ERAT o

— = T EER
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NN E E

Segment information (continued)

Reportable segment assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:

D EBE R @)
RS PEEREEREYENT :

2010 2009
—E-ZF —EENEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Total segment assets DESEEMEE 2,451,871 238,848
Corporate assets TEEE
— cash and cash equivalents —HEeRBEEEEY 309,341 156,967
— others —H1h 461 236
Total assets BEHRE 2,761,673 396,051
The total non-current assets by geographical location are detailed RiwEES D ZERDEELBEFI W
below: ™
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Hong Kong BB 129 335
The PRC Fh 2,231,342 217,033
Total non-current assets ERBEELAE 2,231,471 217,368
For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group’s revenue for HE-ZT—ZTF+A=+T—HLHF

reportable segments from external customers of HK$17,897,000
and HK$6,213,000 are attributable to the China and Japan markets
respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the Group’s revenue for
reportable segments was solely from external customers and is
attributable to the Japan market.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group has two customers
with revenue exceeding 10% of the Group’s total revenue (2009:
one customer). Revenue from these customers amounting to
HK$17,897,000 (2009: Nil) and HK$6,120,000 (2009: HK$10,013,000)
are attributable to alternative energy business and software
development business respectively.

102 Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2010

Z - ZIS%IXQM\E%%)EZTE%& 2 B
I 25 A 17,897,000 JT 16,213,000/ JT
DAEEFRBEEBARTE -

BE-TEAE+-A=t+-AL%
B AR E T 2 85 82 1 8 5 A 5
KEFRAEBATS -

HE - Z—ZF+ - F=+—HItF
E - AEBEMEBREF bz
BAEBBARZ Z10%(ZTFT N F:
—REBEF) - RARERF ZWz=D 7
A17,897,0008 T(ZEENLF: T) K
6,120,000/ 7T (= = F 1. % : 10,013,000
BIT) - Tin RlR B B REERER R4
F B ST o



6

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBEHRRMEE

Expenses by nature 6 RMEEIITZHAX
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F&T FA& T
Auditor’s remuneration 2% B A B 2,486 950
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments T8 £ 1h FH & FRE 5

(Note 17) (fF7E17) 290 =
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 18) L EES (M E18) 3,514 4,529
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #723 - #22 KR I &

(Note 15) (FfF5E15) 10,196 512
Net exchange losses bE 5 B 185 58 4,586 57
Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ E B A X (BFEESE)

emoluments) (Note 10) (M¥=£10) 22,711 16,457
Operating lease rental KEHERS 1,107 1,140
Research and development expenditure MERAZEER - 323
Repair and maintenance expenses HEERFREER 4,131 -
Corporate expenses TERX 2,001 1,647
Legal and professional fees ERREXEEBR

— for the acquisition of alternative —BRAKEBEERERED
energy business 8,416 =
— others —H 1 1,669 5,437
10,085 5,437
Management service fee BEEREE 8,843 5,875
Other expenses Hinf = 5,033 5,682
75,073 42,609

7  Other expenses 7 HMRX
2010 2009
—E-2F —EFENF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F&T FAT
Provision for impairment losses on B B R

— customer relationship and software — B P AR R B £ T AN
technology know-how (Note 18) (FF5E18) 4,337 817
— computer software (Note 18) — B (M EE18) 129 -
— property, plant and equipment (Note 15) —ME - Hes Rk (FE15) 269 -
4,735 817

ERFERIZER)ERAT o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBHRRMT

8 Finance income and costs

8 MBRAKRBMERAS

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE T FA& T
Finance costs: Bl & R ¢
— notional interest expense on convertible note —7BR A E R 2 EPEE 2 Al
wholly repayable within 5 years REREEZRZFNERX (2,280) -
— interest expenses on bank borrowings not — & 45 RAFAE 1,%? B 2R
wholly repayable within 5 years T8RN B A S'Z (15,291) -
Less: amount capitalised in construction R E BABARAZERIER
in progress (Note) 18 (Pt %) 6,719 -
Finance costs & KA (10,852) -
Finance income: B T ONE
— interest income on bank deposits —RITFE XA B WA 804 443
Finance (costs)/income — net B R (A, A —F (10,048) 443
Note: The capitalisation rate applied to funds borrowed and used for the sk : RAFEE - A EIRYAERZER NS
construction of wind farms was between 5.94% and 6.40% per annum LECRERAZEBAEAR AT FL94%
during the year. £6.40% °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B 7% 3R 3= B 5

9 Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration

(@)

PPN

7 =]

9 EESRSREEEFH

Appointed on 1 September 2010
Resigned on 1 September 2010
Appointed on 23 November 2010

ERFERIZER)ERAT o

Directors’ emoluments @ E=ES#ME
The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 SEEEREBEE-_ZT—ZF+=A
December 2010 is set out below: =+—BLEFENHFMHOT
Employer’s
Salary & contribution
other Discretionary Share-based  to pension
Fees benefits bonuses compensation scheme Total
$eRk RINE5HE
Name of Director EEpg we  HitER 0 MERA  ROWHE ZEIHXR A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TEL TEL TEL
OEl Kang, Eric =] 75 1,200 300 - 12 1,587
CHANG Li Hsien Leslie E3vA (U 25 400 400 228 4 1,057
YUNG Bruce Pak Keung Ak 75 2,640 880 935 12 4,542
LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel 2487 75 1,200 300 468 12 2,055
LIU Zhixin @ el il 50 - - - - 50
Tanguy Vincent SERRA @ Tanguy Vincent SERRA @ 8 - - - - 8
ZHANG Songyi REE 150 - - - - 150
TANG Siu Kui, Emest k5 150 - - - - 150
YU Hon To, David EE 150 - - - - 150
758 5,440 1,880 1,631 40 9,749
Notes: B

0 RZF-BFEAA-AEEE
©  R-F-BFENA-BEHE

@ R_F-—FF+—A_+=HE

Z=F

—E-ZEERH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HREMBHRRMT

9 Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration 9 ZEZERSREEEEHMN @

(Continued)
(@) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) @ E=ES=ME @)
The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 EEEREE-_ZTTZNFEF A
December 2009 is set out below: =Et—HIEFEZFMAOT
Employer’s
Salary & contribution
other  Discretionary ~ Share-based to pension
Fees benefits bonuses  compensation scheme Total
ek BReEE
Name of Director ESfA e  EtEN  BBEEL BROEE ZEEEX a%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THT THT THT THT
OEl Kang, Eric il 75 1,120 200 - 12 1,407
YUNG Bruce Pak Keung (! P EEA{U 24 858 300 - 5 1,187
LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel P 75 1,200 400 = 12 1,687
TSANG Sai Chung, Kirk @ ame 51 739 - - 9 799
CHAN Kwok Fong, Joseph @ BE e 51 739 - - 8 798
LIU Zhixin 2FH 75 - - - - 75
ZHANG Songyi KBS 150 - - - - 150
TANG Siu Kui, Emest k5 150 - - - - 150
YU Hon To, David MEE 150 - - - - 150
801 4,656 900 - 46 6,403
Notes: B 5
) Appointed on 4 September 2009 0 RZZEZNFNLANBEEZT
@ Resigned on 4 September 2009 @ RZZTTNAFNAEBEEE
(b) Five highest paid individuals b)) EEMEESAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the FAN - AEEREAESTALTERE
Group for the year include four directors (2009: five) whose ME(ZZEZENF: AR) §$ 1%
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The E2MEEREXE2NNZH TR
emoluments payable to the remaining one (2009: Nil) individual e FAENBRT —B(ZZTEZEN
during the year are as follows: FomBEMALTZHME0T :
2010
—E-FF
HK$’000
FET
Salaries and other benefits o MEAMEF 706
Retirement scheme contributions RONET B R 12
718
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRMEE

10 Employee benefit expenses 10 EERAHEX

2010 2009
—E-=EF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T T
Wages, salaries and other benefits IE& #HehEMER 20,452 16,317
Share-based compensation LA B 13 V5 % B 1,631 -
Provision for unused annual leave REAFBREE 167 17

Pension costs — defined contribution plan BIREG A —FEE G E
(Note a) (Fff 5% a) 461 123

Charged to statement of comprehensive £ 2 H U A 3R & 0Bk

income (Note 6) (Kt E6) 22,711 16,457

Notes: M &

(@  The Group operates the MPF scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory @ AEBERRBASRHEQEREIK
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the B2 BERL —IBRIES T8 ° Z5r &l
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme ERABRBEESERENZXEZREEM
is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered by independent FeomBEeTEERBIERATEZ
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees TEREEFRKGTE - BIBRESFTE
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the BEXMEEHELBEEHRHBEARZ
employee’s relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income 5%MEralfEH MR- BEFAZHEBA
of HK$20,000. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately. The B _ER A20,0007 7T © 5T 81 £ kB8 AD &
Group’s contribution to the employee pension scheme in the PRC is at a HHENEE - AKERFEMAESRNK
percentage in compliance with the requirements of respective municipal ST EIMEL 2 AR TR B AR W BT
governments. BMEZBD R ED -

(o)  Contributions totaling HK$23,000 (2009: HK$19,000) were payable under (o) A& 23,0007 ;L (= ZF Z N F : 19,000

the MPF scheme at 31 December 2010.

B2 BRARBERMS BN T
—PEL-A=+—A%f-

ERFERER ARAA ¢ —T-TFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBHRRMT

11 Income tax expense 11 FrEMZH
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group ARASEF AL EERN R &
has no assessable profit for the year (2009: Nil). Taxation on overseas WEBEBNSHELREBEB(ZZZ A
profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the F ) o B INNAZ TR TR IR F A E ETFE
year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the AL BASEEEEMEBRR 2 E
Group operates. FrE AR KRS -
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F&T FA& T
Current income tax — overseas tax credit EHMEHR - BIINHER R - 23
Deferred income tax expense in respect of T EEFEZAFERBT
excess of fair value of net assets acquired U B — B & R AR AN 2
over cost of acquisition of an associated HRBZEEMBSHAX
company (Note) (B 5%) - (12,385)
Deferred income tax expense, net BERMS S —F 5
(Note 29) (P 3% 29) (24,396) (1,974)
Income tax expense T8 #i B 2 (24,396) (14,336)

Note: Deferred income tax was provided for the excess of the fair value of net
assets acquired over the cost of acquisition of an associated company
based on a tax rate of 25%. On a net basis, the excess of the fair value
of the net assets acquired over the cost of acquisition is HK$15,308,000,
being the fair value gain of the net assets acquired of HK$27,693,000 less
attributable deferred income tax of HK$12,385,000.

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2010
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FEBHKE BMBE2QAKAZH
IR RO5% TR B E - LLFHAEE
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Notes to

Income tax expense (continued) 11

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate
applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBEHRRMEE

Fr 8 % == | )

REE ST AR N < B8 - A M
BEAFERMBEBREHEESHN 2B
M EEENT

2010 2009
—E-ZF ZETENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FE T
Profit before income tax: B 45 B¢ A g A - 359,720 2,654
Less: Share of profits less losses of Rt B N B FE 4G s A
associated companies R & 18 (21,750) 289
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over FrUtEE B EFE 2 A L&
cost of acquisition (including both arising B U BRI B A Al &
from subsidiaries and associated companies) iR R/NI] Bl 47N (386,553) (27,693)
Fair value gain on derivative liabilities MEIARBRZAFERS (17,018) -
(65,601) (24,750)
Tax calculated at the domestic rates applicable 1% 4 BB K ~ % F Fri@ A B
to profits in the respective countries MEFE ZHIE 11,993 4,435
Expenses not deductible for taxation purpose IRl 53 (11,770) (6,244)
Income not subject to tax BERB WA 2,840 1,335
Tax losses not recognised KRR 2 T I E 18 (996) -
Deferred income tax expense in respect of FTBEEFBE 2 AFER
excess of fair value of net assets acquired R B — R B 2 A Bl AR
over cost of acquisition of an associated ZEBZREMBRHRAX
company = (12,389)
Withholding tax arising from acquisition WEEmMEL 2B (26,463) (2,477)
Income tax expense P8 75 2 (24,396) (14,336)

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 18.3% (2009: 17.9%).

J.I.C. (Macao Commercial Offshore) Company Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, is exempted from Macao Complementary
Tax in accordance with the Macao Decree Law No. 58/99/M.

MEFHEAR XK 5183% (T A
F:17.9%) °

RIEB YL S F58/99/M5E » KR =l £2E

MBAREHCEMMERERE AR
RAERR ARSI

ERFERER ARAA ¢ —T-TFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBHRRMT

12 Loss attributable to equity holders of the company

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt
with in the financial statements of the Company to the extent of
HK$29,256,000 (2009: HK$16,270,000).

13 Earnings per share

(@) Basic
Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the
profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the

12

13

RRBRREDIFRE AEL
58
RARRMERREIE 2 AR AR EE
=35 F A 1L B 1 529,256,0005%8 7T (=
T E N4 : 16,270,000 7T) °

BRER
@ EHZRF

BRERAN(BE)TEARE
BREEFEAREER,(BE)
BRENE T EBRINE T 158

year. HE -
2010 2009
—E-FF —TTRF
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of A A AR R EZHFH AEMN
the Company (HK$ thousand) wm A (ER) (T ) 336,311 (10,431)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B %47 % 38 i% 04 T 159 2
in issue (thousand) (F %) 847,729 765,863
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (HK cents R EAEF](EiE)
per share) (RN 39.67 (1.36)

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2010



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13 Earning per share (continued)

(b)

Diluted

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares
including the bonus warrants, convertible note and convertible
preference shares. The convertible note and convertible
preference shares are assumed to have been converted into
ordinary shares, and the net profit is adjusted to eliminate the
interest expense on the convertible note less the tax effect. For
the bonus warrants, a calculation is made in order to determine
the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average market share price of the Company’s
shares during the year) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to outstanding bonus warrants. The
number of shares calculated as above is compared with the
number of shares that would have been issued assuming the
exercise of the bonus warrants.

13

REMB®wRMEE

BREN @
(b) #F

BREERN(BER) NERRAE
BELBRNETSE - WIRMA
BEEEEL AR (BRBRANRRE
& AR R RO A E ST )
BEL B BRFE - JRRERE
Ra#mkEERERR LGS E
AR - T AR 21 R R A A
BRERZMNEARRALE -
PANMBREZFMS @ HAETN
fEH - AEEE B M R TTEALA R
BEFMNREECEHEER &
ARAFEFEESNRRFAR
FHHE) KRB 2ROEE - &
b EFHEFHZBRNODEAE ER
RAMBREERTED RS &
TZBRME B ERLER-

2010 2009
—E-2F —EENF
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of A A AR R EZHFHH AEMN
the Company (HK$ thousand) wA (B 18) (FBT) 336,311 (10,431)
Interest expense on convertible note ARREEREFNERAE
(HK$ thousand) (FA&T) 2,280 -
338,591 (10,431)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 2 % 17 & 3% A% Al #E 7 15 &
in issue (thousand) (F %) 847,729 765,863
Adjustment for : BATSIEFAE :
— Assumed conversion of convertible — R 2% A H2 A% 12 SRR J& K iR
preference shares (thousand) (F5%) 498,838 —
— Assumed conversion of convertible note — R A AR E R R
(thousand) (F 1) 82,127 -
— Assumed exercise of bonus warrants —RER AL AR B 1T
(thousand) (FB%) 37,648 =
Weighted average number of ordinary shares &t & f% #58 & /(&5 18)
for diluted earnings/(loss) per share ZEBINEFHE
(thousand) (F5) 1,466,342 765,863
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share EERmR (EE)
(HK cents per share) (FRHBM) 23.09 (1.36)

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December
2010 did not assume the exercise of the share options and the
subscription rights for convertible preference shares outstanding
during the year since the exercise would have an anti-dilutive
effect.

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2009 did
not assume the exercise of bonus warrants and convertible note
outstanding during the year since the exercise would have an
anti-dilutive effect.

ERFERIZER)ERAT o

BE-_T - TF+-A=1+—H
EFE2SREERF I EBSR
F N R AT 62 BB AR R AT A
BERRZBEERETE REAE
MTESELARBEIZE -

BE_TTAF+-_A=+—H
FTFEZHEEBERLIBERRTA
R R 1T 8 2 AT 7 38 BX 1 &F &% AJ 32
REBRETRE RESEEITERS
AREEZE -

— = T EER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBWmRE

14 Dividends

No dividend was proposed and paid for the year ended 31 December

14 RE
HE_FT—

FE+-A=+-AL%E

2010 (2009: Nil). B UTEEZFNTERNENERE(ZEE
E &) o
15 Property, plant and equipment 15 )%  HBERXE
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
improvement  machinery equipment vehicles Total
HEME B #E
Group NS £ BERES R fE HRE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TER TER THER TER TER
At 1 January 2009 R-ZZZENF-HF—H
Cost B 2R 1,109 - 609 212 1,930
Accumulated depreciation R MERAE
and impairment (779) - 279) (110) (1,168)
Net book amount REFE 330 - 330 102 762
Year ended 31 December 2009 HEZE=-ZTZHhE+=H
=t+-HLEEE
Opening net book amount ENREFE 330 - 330 102 762
Currency translation differences EHHRE=%E 21 - - - 21
Additions NE 176 - 10 - 186
Disposals & (15) - - - (15)
Depreciation (Note 6) & (f:6) (232) = (178) (102) (612)
Closing net book amount FRERTE 280 - 162 - 442
At 31 December 2009 W-EEh&E+=-A=+-H
Cost A 1,283 - 521 212 2,016
Accumulated depreciation and ZEMERAE
impairment (1,003 - (359 212) (1,574)
Net book amount EEEE%‘TE 280 - 162 - 442
Year ended 31 December 2010 #HZ=-Z-ZF+=f
= ‘I' ALEFEE
Opening net book amount FONEEFE 280 - 162 - 442
Currency translation differences ERREZE 81 16,078 20 24 16,203
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) Y B ff 8 2 &) (Bt 5 35) - 498,559 591 695 499,845
Additions NE 2,106 620 138 178 3,042
Depreciation (Note 6) & (Fiske) (260) (9,650) 171) (115) (10,196)
Impairment loss (Note 7) REBE () (178) = 1) = (269)
Closing net book amount FRERTE 2,029 505,607 649 782 509,067
At 31 December 2010 W-E-ZE+-H=+-H
Cost A 3,474 515,591 1,272 1,113 521,450
Accumulated depreciation and ZEAMERRE
impairment (1,445) (9,984) (629) (331) (12,389)
Net book amount R FE 2,029 505,607 649 782 509,067

Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment with carrying values of HK$505.7 million

(2009: Nil) (Note 26).

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2010
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16 Construction in progress

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBwRMEE

16 E2IRE

Total

#st

HK$’000

TET

At 1 January 2009 RZFENLF—H—H -
Additions NE 6,495

Disposals k=S (3,184)
At 31 December 2009 RZZBEZNFE+_A=+—H 3,311
At 1 January 2010 E(‘_g TE—H—H 3,311
Currency translation differences HMmE =5 15,644
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) Llﬁl BE BT /B A A7) (P 5% 35) 491,161
Additions NE 13,287

Deduction of income generated during M ATTEERA

commissioning (21,888)
At 31 December 2010 RZE—ZTF+=-_A=+—H 501,515

Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the Group’s
construction in progress with carrying values of HK$444.9 million (Note

7K £ B BR T 8 444,900,000 7T 2 & T &
ETREEMARSEE T 81T E

26). #26) °
17 Prepaid land lease payments 17 A LHBAER
2010
—2-FF
HK$’000
TET
At 1 January 2009 and 2010 RZZETZNER= TH&—H—H -
Currency translation differences &R InE 530
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) Lo Bt BT 88 & =] (P 3E85) 16,792
Amortisation (Note 6) # 5 (Fi5E6) (290)
At 31 December 2010 R-ZE—ZFE+-_A=+—H 17,032
Notes: Mt &
(@)  Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the Group’s prepaid (@) 7N £ B BR M {8.15,100,0007% 7T 2 B+ &
land lease payments with carrying values of HK$15.1 million (2009: nil) MAERBEEPUEGE FTRITER
(Note 26). (ZZZTNF : 8) (FI5E26) °
()  The prepaid land lease payments were held on leases of over 50 years in (o) BRNITHBAERARFPEKRNERSS
Mainland China. 504 °
EBFEREZER)ERLAT ¢ —T—TFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBWRE

18 Intangible assets 18 BEE
Computer  Customer  Software  Biomass Concession
software relationship technology technology  Goodwill right Total
BH E3)
BBt EFPBE BWAS B BE AT @t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000
THEx TR TEL THEx TiEx THET TR
At 1 January 2009 R-ZEZENFE-A—H
Cost A 248 18,110 12,739 31,500 42,044 - 104,641
Accumulated amortisation ZHEERRE
and impairment (20) (13,895) (8,925) (4,200) (42,044) - (69,084)
Net book amount EREEE 228 4,215 33814 27,300 - - 35,557
Year ended 31 December 2009 EZ-ZZERE+=A
Zt-HEE
Opening net book amount FONRRFE 228 4,215 3,814 27,300 = = 35,557
Additions NE 172 - - - - - 172
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHER A - - - (24,844) - - (04,844)
Amortisation (Note 6) #8 (Fit326) (65) (1,054) (954) (2,456) - = (4,529)
Impairment loss (Note7) AEEREET) = = (817) = = = (817)
Closing net book amount FRERFE 335 3,161 2,043 - - - 5,539
At 31 December 2009 R-BENFE+ZRA
=+-H
Cost RA 420 18110 12739 - - - 31,269
Accumulated amortisation ZFEERRE
and impairment (85) (14,949 (10,696) - - - (25,730)
Net book amount BEE 335 3,161 2,043 - - - 5,539
Year ended 31 December 2010 EHZ=-Z-TF+=H
=t-BLEE
Opening net book amount FNRAFE 335 3,161 2,043 - - = 5,539
Currency translation differences ~ EHHAEZE 7 - - - - 5,968 5975
Acquisition of subsidiaries W I B A A
(Note 35) (F35£35) 3 - - - - 188,358 188,361
Amortisation (Note 6) B (fEe) (86) (527 (340) - - (2,561) (3,514)
Impairment loss (Note 7) RESE () (129) (2,634) (1,709) - - - (4,466)
Closing net book amount FIREWSE 130 - - - - 191,765 191,895
At 31 December 2010 N-_ZE-ZF+-A
=+-H
Cost A 430 18,110 12,738 - - 194,326 225,604
Accumulated amortisation R BHRAE
and impairment (300) (18,110) (12,738) - - (2,561) (33,709)
Net book amount REFE 130 - - - - 191,765 191,895
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18 Intangible assets (continued)

The intangible assets of customer relationship and software technology
resulted from the acquisition of the software business on 31 December
2007. Following the global economic crisis, the demand for software
development services decreased gradually. This has resulted in
impairment losses of HK$4,466,000 (2009: HK$817,000) over the
carrying amounts of the respective intangible assets which were
determined based on a value-in-use assessment of the Group’s
software development business.

In 2009, the recoverable amount of the software business unit was
determined based on a value-in-use calculation. The value-in-use
calculation used pre-tax cash flow based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five year period. Cash flow beyond four
years was extrapolated based on a discount rate of 17.79% taking
into account the risk level of the business unit and assuming no annual
growth.

Management believes' that any reasonably possible change in the key
assumptions would not cause the software business unit’s carrying
amount to exceed its recoverable amount. Other key assumptions
relate to estimation in sales, profit margin and operating cash outflows,
which are based on the business unit’s past performance and
management expectations for the future development of the market
and the business.

18

REMBwRMEE

BILEE @)

EFBARESMGRITAZE 2 EFEER
BER=ZZEZELF+_A=+—HBKEZ
MR - 2R BEEHIRE L R
BRRGEERETRD - EMEHE
EREE2EEBE(DBEASE B &G
BREBZFERAEEFHEET) KRG
A1 5 184,466,000/ T(Z T Z h 4 ¢
817,000/& 7T) °

RZZZENGF  MEEBE M2 W E
CHEIOBRBEFEABEAEEZEE - A
BEAZEELZEAGHNRERE  REE
EESERERFEH VB EE T’Fﬁ(
B BHenE R E R17.79%H#EHE T
FRIEA - WEFREBENM 2 ARK
FHARZRIWEFEER -

ﬁﬂ@*ﬁf TERKRZERME LA G
BRI SEHEMGEKRETZERER

EREER @RS - EfEERRE
HE BEMNEXREERSROERZHE

HHEMA YAXBEML2BERRARE
BEEHARKT S IEBKER 2 ABERK
i%

ERFERER ARAA ¢ —T-TFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HREMBHRRMT

19 Interests in associated companies 19 REfENT 2R
Group
RE
2010 2009
—_E-EF —EENRF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F&xT FE T
Group’s share of net assets AEEEEEEFE 1,011,962 136,655
Amount due from an associated company & U — B = R B 8 - 71,421
1,011,962 208,076

The following financial information, after making adjustments to conform THHBEER(CHENEREEFE
with the Group’s significant accounting policies, represents the Group’s BHBE B NAEE S L EGEE
aggregate share of assets, liabilities, revenue and results of associated RA(ZFHARFLM2EE: BE -
companies, all of which are unlisted, and is summarised below: W R L WRtAmT :

116

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET F&T

Assets BE 2,590,951 430,400
Liabilities A& (1,578,989) (293,745)
Net assets BEZFE 1,011,962 136,655
Revenue W 2= 184,900 =
Profit/(loss) for the year NEFEmFl(EE) 21,750 (289)

Particulars of the associated companies are set out on page 142-143.

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEHRRMEE

20 Investments in subsidiaries 20 RMIBARIZIRE
Company
b YN
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FE T
Unlisted shares, at cost R EMRD - LA 85,571 82,623
Provision for impairment B B (64,053) (61,316)
21,518 21,307
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE W Bft /B A Rl 5k IE 1,261,044 221,990
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAST BT /B A Rl 5k I8 (215,714) (66,799)
1,066,848 176,498
The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and WEBAAZE&HBAEERR 2EREE
repayable on demand. Their carrying amounts approximate their fair KEE -REEEAAFEMES -
values.
The carrying amounts of the amounts due from subsidiaries are FE UL /B A Bl R IE 2 BRE B A B T &
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. (=R
The carrying amounts of the amounts due to subsidiaries are mainly ENHMBARIREBZEABEEZNSET
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. FHE -
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are set out on page 140-142. FTEMBARIZHFBHNFE140=142
21 Trade and other receivables 21 FEURBRFR K E i FE WK
Group Company
PN S NN
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E—Z2F CZTTHhEF ZEB—=F ZZITThF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT FET FE T
Trade receivables JE Ui BE ZX 50,611 867 - -
Other receivables o Yk 109,988 5,590 328 52
160,599 6,457 328 52
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN E s E

21 Trade and other receivables (continued)

21

7 UL AR R 2 HL b FE UK o

At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the ageing analysis of trade RZE-—ZFEFR_ZTEFTNF+ A
receivables is as follows: =+—H BREFRZERITOT :
2010 2009
—E-EF —EETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Less than 30 days D HR30H 35,810 867
More than 30 days and within 60 days HBE0BER60H A 1,176 -
More than 60 days and within 90 days HBEE0BEMR0HA 856 -
More than 90 days @O0 H 12,769 -
50,611 867
Notes: M &
The Group’s policy on software business is to allow credit periods ranging from AEBREGEB ZIBRANEESRFRE
30 days to 90 days to its trade customers. There were no trade receivables on N F30B E0R Z{EEH E(‘ E —ZF
software business being past due as of 31 December 2010 and 2009. EK=ZTETNhF+=A=+—8" 2 % 5
2R UK -
The Group’s policy on alternative energy business is to allow a credit AEERBREREE Z2BRAME

period of 30 days to its trade customers. Trade receivables that are
less than 30 days past due are not considered impaired. As at 31
December 2010, trade receivables of HK$14.8 million (2009: Nil)
were past due but not impaired. These relate to the electricity tariff of
government subsidies which have been substantially collected after
balance sheet date. There were no trade receivables on alternative
energy business being past due over 12 months (2009: Nil).

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other receivables is
denominated in the following currencies:

B2 EFPRHOBZEEH - B D
M30H Z W ER R TR IERE R®
—E-TE+TZR=1T—B EREX
14,800,000/ T (ZZEZENF : &) EAH
BRBE - LEKXRBDEAREREER
BABAEWEZBNEEMY - A&
B 3 4 AE (] B H R B 1218 A 2 B R AR R
EBRUER(CZEZTNF  8) -

7N 8 2 URR AR R H A UK 2 B
A TNIIEEFHE -

2010 2009

—E-ZF —EFENF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FAT

Hong Kong dollars BT 352 66
Renminbi AR #E 159,511 5,524
US dollars ETT 706 867
Singapore dollars N3 T 30 -
160,599 6,457
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21 Trade and other receivables (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEHRRMEE

21 EWERFREMEKRI @

All trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. The Ffr B FE Y2 BR 5% Je H b FE WK 5

maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying

value of each class of receivables mentioned above.

Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the Group’s trade
receivables with carrying values of HK$26.3 million (2009: Nil) (Note 26).

22 Restricted Cash

A& R UK Z BREE

NE - &) (f15E26) °

2 ZRHERE

IEE:./J—BSZ

EBEEE -RBSEHEEEERRAS L

7K £ B 8& ™ {8 26,300,000 7T 2 FE Y BR
REEBURSGETEAERZES

Group
wE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZTTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT T T
Deposit placed in a bank account jointly held TR —RRIT 2 F R
with a third party 957 —
23 Cash and cash equivalents 23 ReRBAEZEEY
Group Company
E3-3L ALE
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E—FF —ITTHF ZEBE-FF ITTHLF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
F& T T T FET T T
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFHERE 52,587 35,446 5,600 29,908
Short-term bank deposits 5EERRITIE K 309,968 136,780 301,681 125,078
362,555 172,226 307,281 154,981

ERFEFRIZER)ERAT o
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HREMBHRRMT

23 Cash and cash equivalents (continved) 23 ReEkBAEZEN @
Group Company
AEE N
2010 2009 2010 2009

—B-BF _TTNF —B-BE _TThF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T FAT FE T FAT
(@) Placed inbanksinthe PRC: (@) R BEKZEITEE :
— denominated in Renminbi —UANREZEE 40,577 13,555 - -
— denominated in Hong Kong —AEBTEE
dollars 5,237 1,847 - -
— denominated in US dollars —AE T4 ﬁ 8,263 1,212 - =
— denominated in Macau dollars ~ —LASBFI T 5 & 64 8 - -
— denominated in Euros — BT E 18 - - -
(o) Placed in banks in Hong Kong: (b) M&E S EITEE :
— denominated in Hong Kong —ABTTHEE
dollars 307,690 155,115 307,245 154,946
— denominated in US dollars —UETHE 382 35 35 €6
— denominated in Singapore —AFT N T E
dollars 97 - - -
(c) Placed in bank in Japan: ) REXREEITES :
— denominated in Japanese —HE#%E
Yen - 422 - -
(d) Cash in hand 0 FHERE 227 32 1 -
362,555 172,226 307,281 154,981
The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as follows: REEAZEBRMEAT :
2010 2009
—E-FF —EENF
HK$ RMB HK$ RMB
BT AR BT AR
Short-term bank deposits RERITIE 0.32%-1.07% 1.35% 0.28% 1.35%
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the REAHEE  EaEERRKR A LEX
carrying value of the cash and bank balances stated above. Frit 230 & RRITEBRIREE -
The short-term bank deposits of the Group and the Company have AEBEMARBEHBETERZRE
original maturities of one month or less. AAE—EAZAT-
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FEMBEHRRMEE

24 Share capital 24 PR

Non-redeemable
convertible preference

Ordinary shares of

shares of HK$0.01 each

Note HK$0.01 each (Note (a)) Total
FREEAETZ
SREEETZ AABEETERE LR
HiEE TR (FfEE (a) Foh
Number of Number of
shares  HK$'000 shares  HK$000  HK$'000
RASE TERT R E THERT TERT
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2009, 31 December RZZEZENF—A
2009 and 1 January 2010 —H ZZETNF
+ZA=t-~H
—Z-TF—-f—H 2,000,000,000 20,000 600,000,000 6,000 26,000
Increase during the year REREN 7,000,000,000 70,000 5,400,000,000 54,000 124,000
At 31 December 2010 RZE—TE+ZA
=+=F 9,000,000,000 90,000 6,000,000,000 60,000 150,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR:
At 1 January 2009 RZZEENFE—F—H 763,534,755 7,635 - - 7,635
Exercise of Bonus Warrants 748 TEANBREETIS () 9,057,454 91 - - 91
At 31 December 2009 RZZEENF+=A
=1+—H 772,592,209 7,726 - - 7,726
At 1 January 2010 R-E—ZEF—H—H 772,592,209 7,726 - - 7,726
Exercise of Bonus Warrants 748 IEAFRREETE () 6,635,888 66 - - 66
Exercise of Bonus Warrants 795 TRARNRREETS (O 98,038 1 - - 1
Issue of bonus shares BATH R @) 77,733,834 777 - - 777
Issue of convertiole preference shares [/ % 1% 22 55 %% 7 AT A AR
to HKC BER @) - - 1,385,170,068 13,852 13,852
Issue of convertible preference shares  [a] STARZ 17 A] # %
to STAR B (f) - - 300,000,000 3,000 3,000
At 31 December 2010 RZZE-ZF+=R
== 857,059,969 8,570 1,685,170,068 16,852 25,422

ERFEFRIZER)ERAT o
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24 Share capital (continueq)

Notes:

(@)

The preference shares are not redeemable and the holders are not
entitled to vote. At any time after allotment, each holder of preference
shares is entitled to convert all or a portion of his/her preference shares
into fully paid ordinary shares at the initial conversion rate of 1 ordinary
share for every 1.03 preference shares, provided that for the purposes of
ensuring the continued listing of the Company’s ordinary shares on the
Stock Exchange after the conversion of the preference shares, no holder
of preference shares should be entitled to exercise the conversion rights if
the Company’s ordinary shares issued upon conversion together with any
ordinary shares of the Company then in issue would result in the minimum
prescribed percentage of the Company’s ordinary shares in public hands
(as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange from time to time) not being satisfied. On any payment of
dividend or distributions (other than a distribution on winding up), the
preference shares should rank pari passu with the ordinary shares. The
Company issued convertible preference shares to HKC and to STAR
Butterfly Energy Ltd. (“STAR”), a subsidiary of TPG on 31 August 2010
and 23 November 2010 respectively.

On 14 May 2009, the Company issued 76,353,475 warrants (Warrant
Code: 748) on the basis of one warrant for every ten existing shares of the
Company held by the shareholders (“Bonus Warrants 748”). The holders
of Bonus Warrants 748 are entitled to subscribe at any time during 14
May 2009 to 13 May 2011 for fully paid shares at a subscription price of
HK$0.30 per share.

On 1 June 2010, the subscription price of Bonus Warrants 748 was
adjusted to HK$0.266 per share as a result of a new issue of bonus
warrants (Warrant Code: 795) and bonus shares in June 2010. Such
adjustment took retroactive effect from 30 April 2010.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, 6,635,888 (31 December 2009:
9,057,454) new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued upon the
exercise of 6,635,888 (31 December 2009: 9,057,454) units of Bonus
Warrants 748. As at 31 December 2010, 60,660,133 (31 December
2009: 67,296,021) units of Bonus Warrants 748 remained outstanding.

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2010

24 BRA (@)

B &L

(@)

BaARAAIER  HFFAEBERR-
BARSEEARERZ ZEMER -
ERERB1CRELERLBAIRE B
Rz SRR - GE 2B D E
R EB AR EEEK . \ﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%@f‘ﬁ
B 5 18 - ANQ R) 2 AR A R
RFT LT AN A B R IR AR 1T T
LWEW$@ﬂ%H%E§§ﬁﬁﬁ%ZL

B RREEINABREAEAARER
Hxﬁﬁ%ﬁmzﬁﬁﬁntt(i%ﬁﬁé?aﬁﬁ
BHEEIMRUTEZRE)  AMELR
%—%ﬁ/\T’E%ﬂ@ﬁH%fé B S K
/)E(/ﬁﬂ%ﬁi/\/)ﬁﬁ\ﬂ\)ﬁm 185 pg R
TBERHZEREER - ARAHFIR

—ZFNA=+—HERZZE—F
F+—A-Z+=-ABTAERELR
FEBEZ(ZR) BRARKRTPGH B
A BISTAR Butterfly Energy Ltd([STAR ) ©

RZZZAFRATEE  KRFHRK
REFEETRARARBEGRGER—
DRI e E 2 B 2% - 3£1776,353,4751p

AR AE T (FRAR B 5K« 748) ([4L F)
RIRHEF748]) - A HRBEE 748558

ABER-_ZTENFAATNHNBZE=
T——FRA+T=BHERN  BERIZR
EEFRIE TREMRERARKRMD

R=ZZT—ZTFA—A8 - AFREEFE
TIBREBEAR=ZZE—ZSFNAETH
AT F R AX #E 7B (R B RS : 795) &
ARMBAEZEFRR0266B T % E
BT - ZTFNA=THEBEHE
R e

BHE-_ZT—ZTF+-A=+—HLHF
€ 663588 (— T HLF+ = A
=+ — H : 9,057,454 % ) & i% @ {80.01
BT Z LB R 6,6358880 (= F
NE+=A=+—H:9,057,45417) 4T
FRREBETABETEMET RN F
—ZEF+=-A=+—H " F60,660,133
M(ZEENF+ZA=Z+—8:
67,296,021 17 ) AL FI| 7R IR 4 3B 74810 AR 17
fi# o
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24 Share capital (continueq)

Notes: (Continued)

(©

On 9 June 2010, the Company issued 77,733,834 warrants (Warrant
Code: 795) on the basis of one warrant for every ten existing shares of the
Company held by the shareholders (“Bonus Warrants 795”). The holders
of Bonus Warrants 795 are entitled to subscribe at any time during 9
June 2010 to 8 June 2011 for fully paid shares at a subscription price
of HK$0.60 per share. For the year ended 31 December 2010, 98,038
new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued upon the exercise
of 98,038 units of Bonus Warrants 795. As at 31 December 2010,
77,635,796 units of Bonus Warrants 795 remained outstanding.

At the annual general meeting held on 1 June 2010, the resolution to
approve the issue of 77,733,834 bonus shares on the basis of 1 bonus
share for every 10 ordinary shares held was passed by the shareholders.
The bonus shares were issued on 9 June 2010. The bonus shares are
issued, allotted and distributed, credited as fully paid up, upon issue and
rank pari passu in all respects with the existing shares with effect from the
date of issue, except that they will not be entitled to the Bonus Warrants
795 as mentioned in note ().

On 31 August 2010, the Company issued and allotted 1,385,170,068
convertible preference shares to HKC (Holdings) Ltd. The convertible
preference shares carry rights to convert into ordinary shares at the initial
conversion rate of 1 convertible preference share to 1 ordinary share,
such conversion rate being subject to customary adjustments.

On 23 November 2010, the Company issued and allotted 300,000,000
convertible preference shares to STAR at HK$0.65 amounting to HK$195
million to STAR. STAR may at any time during the ensuring 4 years require
the Company to issue to them a maximum of 260,000,000 additional
preference shares at a price of HK$0.75 per additional preference share.

REMBwRMEE

24 BRA (@)
st : (4B)

(©

BEEMERZER)ERAT o

RZZE—ZFFNANB ARFAER
RERFEETRARAREGRGERE—
D RIR HEE 2 B 2% - 3 1777,733,8341p
RARAE T (R B SR : 795) ([4L F)
RARHEET5) - AL A RBREET7BRHE
AEERZZE—ZTFNANBE=Z
——FXAN\BHEA BEIZREE
FRO60B TRBACKRAKS - BE
—E-FEE+-_A=+-—BIEE"
98,038 A% & B& I {E 0.01 8 7T 2 31 & @ Ik
98,038 {7 AL Al 33 A% 4 75 795 & 17 {5 ifn
BT -RZTE—ZTF+=—A=+—8"
577,635,796 17 4L F| 3R % 1 & 79517 R
1TfE -

R=ZZFE—ZSFA—BALETZHREA
FAE L REMERSHEAFTRER
% 3% — 15 4T IR~ B % %% 9777,733,834
BABRZRBR - ABWNR T —TE X
BHABET AAREIT BEEDIKE
ABRSIES R - REITRIEFT A 5 M R
BTRAHBEARNEZAR SR R
F S K RE(c) BT it 2 AT F R
BEAERE 795 o

RZTB—ZFENA=1+—0 AQFAMH
EERZ(ER)ARA A FHITRER
1,385,170,068 % A 2 A% & 5% f% - 7] 2 A%
BRBAIZIBRATBRBRELEBREIBRE
BRZOPHBLEREBKERRG
I ER B RZ B FARAR o

RZE—ZTF+—-—F=+=H' 4K
A 7] BL0.657% Tt [AISTARZ 17 & A 2%
300,000,000 % f& f& %A 195,000,000 %
JT 2 A #2 B8 8 45 % o STARA] 1A FE 4R 1Y
A R A 1) B % B Sk AR D B A = AR EE A1
BABROBBE T ZERME RS 1T
260,000,000 % Z& FME 5T % °

— = T EER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HREMBHRRMT

24 Share capital (continueq)

Notes: (Continued)

(¢)] Share options are granted to employees, senior executives or officers,
managers, directors or consultants of any members of the Group or any
Invested Entity.

The exercise price must be at least the higher of

i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant;

(ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of a share.

An option must be exercised within 10 years from the date on which it is
granted or such shorter period as the Board may specify at the time of
grant. An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for acceptance
for a period of 10 business days from the date of offer and a consideration
of HK$1 must be paid upon acceptance.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related
weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

24 BRA (@)
st : (4B)

()

AARMAEEE T ERMKE AR K
RABRZER BRTBRARXEE
AB KB EERERRDERE-

TEEARIRBUTERSE :

) R AR B EEB RS AR
BERMHIKTE

(ii) A& EE R L B H AT A (E & %
AEBXAEARERMYFY
WmE: &

@iy B mEE-

BREANKLBMESI0OFHES
BAREREEERERZREHRHEA
TE-RERH BRETARESE A5
At EE XA REANEERFEN
BARBAM1IETRE -

WARTTEZ BAIRESE X BB INEF
BITEEZSHMT :

2010
—E-TF

Average exercise

price in Number of
HK dollars per share options
BRTFHBET

1TEE & X 21 B

At 1 January ®n—A—H - -
Granted s dunt 0.732 12,500,000
Issues of bonus shares BEATHLRR (0.076) 750,000
At 31 December R+—-—A=+—8H 0.686 18,250,000

The weighted average remaining contractual life of these share options
approximates 9 years.

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2010
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25 Reserves

25 f#fE
Employee Convertible
share-based  note - equity
Share Exchange  compensation  component, Retained
premium reserve reserve net of tax eamnings Total
TAREE-
EERGD EumFH-
Group rE RiniaE 5% HERE e BB TR & A B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
Balance at 1 January 2009 RZZZNF-A—H
ey 175 1,085 - - 299,916 301,176
Exercise of bonus warrants TR R R AE R 2,626 - - - - 2,626
Issuance of convertible note (Note 27) ~ Z{7 Al IR 21 (Fi 5527) - - - 7,048 - 7,048
Tax on equity component on TARZBRER DD Z
convertiole note (Note 29) A (f15£29) - - - (1,169 - (1,163)
Currency translation differences ERREZS - 32 - - - 32
Loss for the year KEEEE - - - - (10,431) (10,431)
Balance at 31 December 2009 R-ZENF+_A
=t-R&H 2,801 1,117 - 5,885 289,485 299,288
Balance at 1 January 2010 R-E-ZF—-H—H
o3 2,801 1,117 - 5,885 289,485 299,288
Exercise of bonus warrants B R 1,917 - - - - 1,917
Issue of bonus shares TR (777) - - - - (777)
Issue of convertible preference shares % /T Al A IR B 5 1% 940,550 - - - - 940,550
Reversal of deferred tax liabilties BREMTRREEER
related to equity component of BHEEHE
convertible note (Note 29) BEZEE(HF20) - - - 376 - 376
Currency translation differences ERpEES - 52,649 - - - 52,649
Share options granted BRHERE - - 1,631 - - 1,631
Profit for the year AEEEF = - - - 336,311 336,311
Balance at 31 December 2010 e e i
=t+—-R&#% 944,491 53,766 1,631 6,261 625,796 1,631,945

ERFEFRIZER)ERAT o
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HREMBHRRMT

25 Reserves (continued) 25 fEiE @)
Employee
Other  share-based Convertible
Share Exchange reserve  compensation  note - equity Retained
premium resernve (Note) resenve  component eamings Total
Bt BERG TARZE-

Company AR RiEE — EXFE (W)  wERE  ERSS  RERN Lh
HK§000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS0OO  HKSOOD  HKBOOD  HK§O00
TAT TAT TR TR TR TATL TAT

Balance at 1 January 2009 R=EZn5-K-H
&5 175 - 150,686 249,570
Exercise of bonus warrants TEaHRRES 2626 - - 262
Issuance of convertible note BIURREER
(Note 27) iE1) = 7,048 - 7,048
Tax on equity component on TRREEEETD
convertible note (Note 29) 78 (&£ 20) - (1,163) = (1,163)
Loss for the year rEEER - = (16,270) (16,270)
Balance at 31 December 2009  W=-ZENE+-A
“t-H&H 2,801 5,385 134,416 241,811
Balance at 1 January 2010 RZE-Z%£-4-AH
&4 2,801 5,885 134,416 241,811
Exercise of bonus warrants I AR AR EE 1917 = - 1917
Issue of bonus shares BITATR (777) - - (rm)
Issuance of convertiole shares LGEES ) 940,550 - = 940,550
Tax on equity component on TEREEEZT 2
convertible note (Note 29) HiE (i 7E29) - 376 = 316
Currency tranglation differences B ZE - - - 33,613
Share options granted BRLERE = - - 1,631
Loss for the year rEEFE - = (29,256) (29,256)
Balance at 31 December 2010  MZE-ZT45+=A
=t-HES 944,491 33,613 98,709 1,631 6,261 105,160 1,189,865

M : ARBAZEMREER _-_TFT —F—
A—HA—ARBEHEER LHEER
FEREET -

Note: The other reserve of the company related to an acquisition prior to 1
January 2001 and continues to be held in reserves.
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26 Bank borrowings

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

26

REMBwRMEE

i3
¢

RITERR

m

Group

REE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THET

Non-current
Current

FERE
nE

660,560 =
65,109 =

725,669 =

An amount of HK$400 million bank borrowings is secured and

guaranteed by the ultimate holding company.

An amount of HK$326 million borrowings is secured and guaranteed

by a fellow subsidiary.

Note: Bank borrowings are secured by certain property, plant and equipment,
construction in progress, prepaid land lease payments and trade

receivables of the Group (Note 15, 16, 17 and 21).

(@  The maturity of bank borrowings at the balance sheet date is as

follows:

/5 £1400,000,00078 7T Z SR1T & R E F K
AR RIER A AER -

7 #1326,000,00078 T 2 fE R E FEMA -
W — R RMERRER-

M RTERBAEEETHE  BBERR
H ERIR ENLtHBAERREK
AR FRAEAR AR (M 3E15 ~ 16 ~ 17 & 21) »

@ MAEKRRNEEBZZNEBWAT

Secured bank borrowings
BIEMRITER
2010 2009

—g-%fF
HK$’000
FHx

—ETNF
HK$'000
FAT

Within one year

In the second year
In the third year to fifth year
After the fifth year

—&ER
FF
BoFEEREF
AER

65,109
67,476
202,430
390,654

725,669

Notes:

(@) The carrying amounts of the bank borrowings are denominated in

Renminbi.

(b) The effective interest rate at the balance sheet date was 6.40%.

g -

@ MOTBERZEEEAARE S

B o

) REEBHZEBRFEXE6.40% °

ERFEFRIZER)ERAT o

— = T EER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBHRRMT

27

28

Convertible note 21 ATRRERE
The Company issued a non-interest bearing convertible note at a ARNBR=ZZTETZNLF+_RAR=+H%
par value of RMB 73.5 million (equivalent to HK$83.1 million) on 30 THEHE A A R 73,500,000 (18 & R»
December 2009. The note matures three years from the issue date at 83,100,000/ Jt.) 2 N Mt S Al g = 4% o
its nominal value of RMB 73.5 million (equivalent to HK$83.1 million) or EHAEEEETHBRET M =F2H
can be converted into shares at the holder’s option on any business 2@ E A AR ¥73,500,0007T (18 & R
day during the conversion period at HK$1.0113 per share. 83,100,000/8 7C) * sk ¥ A A Al iE E R R
AREB (] & % B Z &% 1.01138 0 2
BREEBRBKRG -
The convertible note recognised in the balance sheet is calculated as REEAEBRZALKRERTE W
follows: S &
Group and Company
KEBRARAA
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T FE T
Face value of convertible note AR EEEE 85,335 83,055
Equity component of convertible note (Note 25)  AJ 3% & 2= 4% 42 25 26 5> (Fff 53X 25) (7,048) (7,048)
Liability component of convertible note AR EEE B 78,287 76,007
The effective interest rate at the balance sheet date was 3%. REEHZBERMNX AIE o
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary 28 EN—FEEZHE DS EIE

The amount due to a fellow subsidiary is unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand. The balance is denominated in Renminbi.

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2010
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBEHRRMEE

29 Deferred income tax liabilities 29 BEERBHEE
The movements in deferred income tax liabilities during the year, are as FAZEREMGSHRARZSHNAT
follows:
Fair value
adjustment Withholding Fair value
arising from tax arising adjustment
business from  Convertible on intangible Tax
combinations acquisition note assets losses Total
REZKAH A B EE
Group r5E ZATERE ELEZENR UsREE ATEAZ  HESSE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL THET THET THT TAT
At 1 January 2009 RZZZENE—-F—H = = - (1,709) 208 (1,506)
Income statement (charged)/credited £ Uiz &
(f08%)/E A - (2,477) - 706 (203) (1974)
Charged to equity ERERMBG - - (1,163) - - (1,163)
At 31 December 2009 RZEENE+TZA
=+-H - (.477) (1,163 (1,009 - (4,643)
At 1 January 2010 R-Z-FF-F—H - 477 (1,163 (1,009 - (4,643)
Currency translation differences [N =5 (1,515) (974) - - - (2,489)
Acquisttion of subsidiaries (Note 35) Uk B 1 |8 2 = (Ff 535) (45,742) = = = - (4578
Income statement credited/(charged)  ZE Mtz & A/ (31%)

(Note 11) (Fi=E11) 590 (25,989) - 1,003 - (24,396)
Credited to equity ERERTA - - 376 - - 376
At 31 December 2010 RZE—ZF+ZR

=+-H (46,667) (29,440) (787) - - (76,894)
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130

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

VAN
=5

5t %5 R Ak B B

29 Deferred income tax liabilities (continued) 29 EEFIBHEBE®w
Convertible note
AR R

2010 2009

Company ¥ NN | —E-FF —EENF
HK$’000 HK$’000

FET F&T

At 1 January Kn—A—H (1,163) -
Charged to directly to equity EREZEENR 376 (1,163)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H (787) (1,163)
The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of 7N & B W £ 3t &5 186,767,000 (=
HK$1,177,000 (2009: HK$547,166) in respect of losses amounting T TN F 3,135,321 o) HERIE IE AT
to HK$6,767,000 (2009: HK$3,135,321) that can be carried forward BHEE1177,0008 T(Z T T HF:
against future taxable income. These tax losses have no expiry dates 547,16678 L) A £ & K $5 B &2 [ &R
except tax losses of HK$3,983,000 (2009: HK$351,030) which expire HWA - ZEHBHBEILESEEA K
at various dates up to 2015 (2009: 2014). 3,983,000/ 7t ( — T & N1 % : 351,03078
T ZHBEBAERBEE T —HF

ZETNF: ZFE—WE)ILEZ2TREAB

B & o
Derivative liabilities 30 fTATAERE

30

The balance represents the subscription right granted to STAR, and
was fair valued at 31 December 2010 (Note 24 (f)).

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited ® Annual Report 2010
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31 Trade and other payables 31 FEERR HEMER
Group Company
rE AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-FF ""ETTHF ZE-FF C"IZETITIF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FHET FET
Trade payables FETBR X 117 - - -
Other payables and accruals  H th & 1~ 7 &
fEst & R 104,034 8,387 4,596 4,824
104,151 8,387 4,596 4,824

At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the ageing analysis of trade payables RZE—ZTFR_ZTTNF+ A
is as follows: =1+ —H ENERZERITAT
Group
RE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE& T T T
6 to less than 12 months 6= R121E A 103 -
12 months and more 1218 A & A E 14 -
117 -
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables are 755 [ e AT AR R ALt B N R 2 BRTEN B IR
denominated in the following currencies: AT EHE :
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FA& T
Hong Kong dollars BT 8,087 6,556
Renminbi AR #E 96,024 1,810
Japanese Yen = - 21
Singapore dollars TN T 40 -
104,151 8,387
At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the other payables of the Company RZE—ZTFR_FTZFTNF+ZA
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. =+—H ' ARRZHAMENRABT
FHE ©
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32 Commitments 32 EIE
(@) Capital commitments (@ BEEREIE
Capital expenditure at the balance sheet date but not yet REBEHEREEMAEEZE
incurred was as follows: RAZWAT :
Group 2010 2009
AEE —E-ZF —EENEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
F#E T FAT
Capital expenditure in respect of alternative 3 R & (L8R IB B 2
energy projects: BN EE
Contracted but not provided for BRIAEREE 72,974 67,030
Authorised but not contracted for EREBRRFTA 322,289 309,303
395,263 376,333
(b) Commitments under operating leases b) RELKLEHEZKIE
The aggregate future minimum lease payments under non- RIBER @ LT REF 2T A
cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings KEHE 2 RARKEE R LW
were as follows: N
Group 2010 2009
rEE = —TEAEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE T
No later than 1 year —F R 2,456 9,246
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years —4F & A4 3,583 -
6,039 9,246
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33 Related party transactions

The Group entered into transactions with the following related parties
for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009.

(8 Management services fee of HK$8,843,000 (2009:
HK$5,875,000) was paid to the ultimate holding company, of
which HK$8,545,000 (2009: HK$5,592,000) is subject to the
annual caps under continuing connected transactions between
the Group and HKC.

(o)  Office rental of HK$432,000 (2009: HK$141,000) was paid to a
fellow subsidiary. The office rental was charged at terms pursuant
to agreements.

(c)  Property management fee of HK$272,000 (2009: HK$47,000)
was paid to a fellow subsidiary. The property management fee
was charged at terms pursuant to agreements.

(d) The Group acquired several subsidiaries and associated
companies from HKC at a consideration of HK$853,802,000
satisfied by the issuance of convertible preference shares to
HKC. The consideration was determined pursuant to agreements
(Note 35).

(e)  Key management compensation

33

REMB®wRMEE

BEBLE X5

HE-_ZT—ZTFR=_ZZTNF+=A
=t+—BIEFEARSEET @S]
VRGN

@ EBERZKIERAAIMNERRE
#8,843,000%% T( =& T Nl F -
5,875,000/ 7T ) - & 8,545,000 %
TT(ZZZTNF 15,592,000 T) 78
BTFASERFTSERETZHE
BHERXSETZFELER-

b BR—MERRKBAIRZMFHD
= £432,0008 L (Z T SLF ¢
141,000 L) ° A =& B E %

& RN ER o

© BrR—HREZRKEBRAXZNYE
EEE272,0008 L (Z T NLF ¢
47,0008 70) - W X B E B R &
& R ABR ©

d AEEBEBREBSERENRE
858,802,000 7 7T Yt £ [y 8 A
AIREERTR] TIARBBSERE
THBmBREERZ N EN - &R
BRI e T (P 5ES5) °

e FEEBEEBEKEZMFHE

2010 2009

—E-2F —EENF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FB T

Salaries and other benefits HEREMER 7,320 5,556
Directors’ fees E5HEe 758 801
Share-based compensation LA 3% 193 1 R B 1,631 -
Pension cost — defined contribution scheme  iE Kk & f% 2~ — 5& 28 {3k 51 2 40 46
9,749 6,403
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34 Notes to consolidated cash flow statement 4 FmEBEERERMET
(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to (@ BRATISBEAT & A BE R & K
cash used in operations FrTRAREZHIER
2010 2009
—E-ZF ZTTNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FHT
Profit before income tax FFr 45 %1 Bl & 359,720 2,664
Finance costs B & AR 10,852 -
Finance income B 75 U A (804) (443)
Depreciation and amortisation 18 M 14,000 5,041
Impairment losses HIEEE 4,735 817
Gain on deregistration/disposal of HOH 4 BT B A A
subsidiaries Wz (145) (7,624)
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired T EEFEZAFE
over cost of acquisition i U B B AN 2 B R (386,553) (27,693)
Share of profits less losses of associated FEAG B & A Bla FUR
companies &5 18 (21,750) 289
Fair value gain on derivative liabilities METRBEZ ATFERS (17,018) -
Share-based compensation B& 10 1 B (E 1,631 -
Operating losses before working capital BEESEBFILE
changes &5 18 (35,332) (26,959)
Increase in inventory FEE M (276) -
Increase in trade and other receivables JE Ui BR R K2 L b i UL R 1 AN (1,355) (4,193)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other J& 15 BR 3k B2 A 8 A5 3k
payables CR 4,/ 1 (8,605) 5,678
Cash used in operations KEFMARS (45,568) (25,474)
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REMBwRMEE

34 Notes to consolidated cash flow statement contiwes) 34 HEBRESHRERKN T @)

(b)

(©)

Disposal of subsidiaries (b)
On 21 May 2009, HKE (Biomass) Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and a wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement to

dispose of its 55% equity interest in Hong Kong Biomass Energy

(BVI) Co., Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin

Islands, to the minority shareholder, GeneHarbor (Hong Kong)
Technologies Limited, at a cash consideration of HK$23,100,000.

A gain on disposal of HK$ 7,624,000 was recorded.

HEHE A A
R-EZEAFEFRA-F+—H AR
AREBELZHESEMRLZZ
ENBRARBESHAER(EME)
TIRAEMR ARG — D AR
% X f£23,100,0007% Jt [d] 2 & % R
ERBBB)BIHEAERARA - HE
HRNABERBESFMRIZE
A LR (BVI) B R A 7155% A%
RigEz - W55 2R & Yz 7,624,000
ST °

2009
—ETNEF
HK$’'000
FA& T
Net assets disposed I E&EEFE
Intangible assets B EE 24,844
Trade and other receivables JiE Ut B 5% % L b 8 LK 4
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEYD 4,101
Trade and other payables JE 11 BR 5% I EL fib & 55 3K 811)
Non-controlling interests 2 AR = (12,662)
15,476
Gain on disposal & W 7,624
Consideration RE 23,100
Satisfied by: LA TR 5 A+
Cash consideration RERE 23,100
Cash and bank balances disposed of i &R & RIBTTHE S (4,101)
18,999
Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash c FRALENBLARZRER
equivalents in respect of disposal of REeEEBYRAFHEIM
subsidiaries
2009
—ETNF
HK$’000
FE T
Cash consideration BERE 23,100
Cash and bank balances disposed T ERE RRITER (4,101)
18,999

ERFERER ARAA ¢ —T-TFFR
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34 Notes to consolidated cash flow statement (continueq) 34

(d) Major non-cash transactions

(i) The Company issued 1,385,170,068 convertible (i)
preference share with a fair value of HK$853,802,000 as
the consideration for the acquisition of subsidiaries and
associated companies as described in Note 35.

(ii) Electricity income generated during testing stage was (ii)
deducted from the balance of construction in progress as
the revenue generated is part of the cost of testing (Note

GERERERMT @

d FEEFBEEXRS

7N A 7] % 171,385,170,068 A%
A & /853,802,000 7T 7
Al 32 R 8 R R% 0 1B & Uk BE K
B R REE N E 2 KE (B
£¥35) o

RAABRER ZENRAL
EEEIE MERTPIRR - R
B8 7% P ik BR W 8 88 ORI 5 R AR

16). — &b (FfzE16) -
35 Business Combination 3B EKEH
(a8  On 12 May 2010, the Group entered into a sale and purchase @ RZE—ZFAHAT= EI 7N
agreement (“S&P”) with HKC to acquire 100% equity interest in SEERBERLRLE R B
HKE (BVI) Ltd. (“HKE(BVI)”). The principal activity of HKE(BVI) ([ B E % & U BEHKE (BVI)
is to operate wind farms and waste-to-energy plant through Lt ([HKE(BVI)]) & B i% 7~ #E & o

its subsidiaries and associated companies. The acquisition is
consistent with the Group’s strategy to focus on the alternative
energy business. Based on the S&P, the purchase consideration
was settled by way of issuing and allotting1,385,170,068
convertible preference shares, the fair value of which, on the S&P

date, was HK$1,018,100,000.

On 31 August 2010, the Group completed the acquisition. w—F—
The fair values of the respective convertible preference shares
and the net assets of HKE(BVI) were HK$853,802,000 and
HK$1,240,355,000 respectively. This resulted in an excess of fair
value of net assets acquired over cost of acquisition which has
been recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

KEBVVEZ XK ABEBEHBA
T&%%ﬂ?méﬂﬁﬁ*%&
WIREER - WHEEARNEEFFRN
BREREBEZRE—H - -BREE

EE WEREBTEBEITRE
%L%mﬂm%kTﬁ%ﬁ%ki
f HEREEHZABRHZATES
1,018,100,0007% It °

ZENR=+—H ' &
SE TR - AT E R &
HKEBVNEEFEZ A FED A
853,802,0007% T K& 1,240,355,000
BT AM ARBEEFEZA
FEBLHEBRA  LREERE

income. WARE NTER ©
Detalils of net assets acquired are as follows: B EEFELFBOT
HK$’000
FA T
Fair value of convertible preference shares on REBE s E BT RRELRZ
S&P date ’D\q:ﬁ 1,018,100
Less: Fair value changes W ATEES (164,298)
Fair value of convertible preference shares onthe A 52k B Hi 7] #a IR E L A% 2 A F &
completion date 853,802
Fair value of net assets acquired (see below) FrkEEEFEZAFE(RTX) (1,240,355)
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over Frik i & EFE 2 A FE B U R AR
cost of acquisition (386,553)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 11) EEFIEE & (MaE11) 26,463
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over FT B S EFE 2 AFERBHWEK A
cost of acquisition, net of tax (MR EIE) (360,090)
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35 Business Combination (continueq) 3B EBEH@®
(a)  (Continued) @ (&
The identifiable assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition BWEEAZATHNEEREBE
are as follows: W
Acquiree’s
fair value amount
WS T
ZNFE
HK$’'000
FA& T
Cash and cash equivalents RehkAeEEY 104,630
Restricted cash PR B R e 926
Property, plant & equipment (Note 15) I E - 3R R E (BYRE15) 499,845
Construction in progress (Note 16) EEITRE(ME16) 491,161
Prepaid land lease payments (Note 17) TEAT T F & R (M aE17) 16,792
Intangible assets (Note 18) EmRAE (MFE18) 188,361
Interests in associated companies iR l/NC] o v 748,883
Inventory FE 5,815
Trade and other receivables JRE L2 AR R I EL At & W3R 130,888
Trade and other payables JE 151 BR 3% % EL b JE 15 3R (111,088)
Bank borrowings RITIERK (766,196)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 29) BT 1A B E (M 5E29) (45,742)
Total identifiable net assets AHANEEFE B 1,264,275
Non-controlling interests FE 25 AR 7 = (23,920)
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over FTNBEEFBEZAFERE
cost of acquisition W HE R AN 2 & FR (386,553)
Total purchase consideration — convertible BESERE-—TBRKRELR
preference shares 853,802

The fair value of trade and other receivables acquired is
HK$130,888,000 and includes trade receivables with a fair value
of HK$24,736,000. The gross contractual amount for trade
receivables is HK$24,736,000, for which no provision has been
made.

Since the date of acquisition, HKE(BVI) contributed revenue
of approximately HK$17.90 million and generated a profit of
approximately HK$13.96 million. If the acquisition had occurred
on 1 January 2010, the Group’s revenue and profit for the year
would have increased by approximately HK$26.64 million and
decreased by approximately HK$24.12 million respectively.

Fir Uiz 5 e Wi BR 3k I b FE L 2 A T B
/130,888,000 7t * W EFF AATFEAE
24,736,000/ JT 2 & W BR R o JE W BR X
Z A 4 48 EE 524,736,000 o 0 I ¥
IHE FRIE 1 R o

B Y EE B HA LA 2R - HKEBVIE % R Iz 49
17,900,000 7t & = 4 & F1 £ 13,960,000
BT BRUEBA-_Z—ZF—F—H
AT BIAREEF R kA FE T
15 5 Bl 1 A0 926,640,000 7T & E 4 4
24,120,000 JT °
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35 Business Combination (continued)

(0)

On 30 December 2009, the Group completed the acquisition
of 100% equity interest in HKE Danjinghe (BVI) Wind Power
Limited (“HKE Danjinghe”). The principal asset of HKE Danjinghe
is its 10% effective interest in an associated company. The
consideration was satisfied by the issuance of a convertible note
with a par value of RMB 73.5 million (equivalent to HK$ 83.1
million) with details described in Note 27.

At the acquisition date, the fair value of the net assets and
liabilities in HKE Danjinghe equalled HK$110,748,000 and
consequently there was an excess of fair value of net assets
acquired over cost of acquisition of the associated company
which has been recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Details of net assets acquired are as follows:

35 EKEHFm@

(b)

RZTZENF+ZA=+H &
SEERKEDBHNERE ST
BV REEBR AR ([EBHER
B ) 2R A R - BB
BEEIZXEZEERER — M
R NA Z10%E R - RETD
EPETEES AR ET3,500,000
70 (%48 & 1 83,100,000/ jT) Z 7]
BMREBE I FFEERM 27

REERE  BEFERERTE
EFERABFEZLATERSE
110,748,000/ 7T + i FT Uk BE & =
FEZ AT AR Y E —
RAIK A Z 5 EREGEE2EK
AREKHER

B EEFEZFFITE T

HK$'000
FB T
Purchase consideration — convertible note BERE-ATBBRE
(Note 27) (fgzE27) 83,055
Fair value of net assets acquired (see below) B EEFEZAFERTX) (110,748)
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over B EEFE 2 AFEBHWE
cost of acquisition of an associated company — BB E R AN 2 BFE - IR
(Note 11) I8 (M EE11) (27,693)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 11) FEERIEA & (M EE11) 12,385
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over FTdBEEEFEZ AFEBH
cost of acquisition of an associated company, U B8 —RIE 2 A R AR 2 8iEB
net of tax MR (15,308)
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35 Business Combination (continueq) 3B EBEH@®
(b)  (Continued) b)) &
The identifiable assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition BWEEAZATHNEEREBE
are as follows: W
Acquiree’s  Acquiree’s fair
carrying amount value amount
WU EE A WU
2 REE ZREE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FExT
Interest in an associated company R—HEE AR 2 ER 61,200 110,740
Amount due from immediate holding U E B A A

company KIE 8 8
Net assets acquired Fri g & E)FE 61,208 110,748
Fair value of net assets acquired FriEEEFE 2 AT E 110,748

Excess of fair value of net assets FriEEEFE 2 AT E

acquired over cost of acquisition of B — RS A F
an associated company AN 2 H5E (27,693)

Total purchase consideration — convertible 4888 B K (B — Al R IR = &
note (Note 27) (M 7x27) 83,055

Since the date of acquisition, HKE Danjinghe did not contribute
any revenue and profit to the Group. If the acquisition had
occurred on 1 January 2009, there would have been no material
effect on the Group’s revenue and loss for the year.

36 Events after the balance sheet date

On 16 February 2011, the Company passed a resolution to wind up a
wholly-owned subsidiary, namely Shenzhen Namtek Company Limited
(Y EE FRMARAR), a limited liability company established in
the PRC, in view of the continuous loss incurred by Shenzhen Namtek
Company Limited. The Board is of the view that the winding-up of
Shenzhen Namtek Company Limited would not have any material
adverse impact on the financial and trading position of the Group, given
the transformation of the Group into a full-fledged alternative energy
player in China.

oo g

BUERBREANR  BAENGERESR
AL S R &R B 7 2R AE AT R A
B HERBER -_ZTNF —

A—B#ET{T BITeHAERFEAR
W REEERERATE -
36 EEHESEHE

ERRYBEAETRMERRA A A&
BEE AAFR-_ZE——F - F+
AEAKEE2ENBARRYBEAES TR
MAERAR(RPRKLZEREER
A)BEBZRER - ARAEEHER SN
FRE2EERZBERERAR g
REBFINEHEFRITERARBR
BrIEHAEBTBEZ SRR EKE
ANEETE-
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FEMB QAR KREEE N E

37 Principal subsidiaries and associated companies

Listed below are the subsidiaries and associated companies which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affect the result and/or net

assets of the Group.

AR ¢

TERHINEFAR
BEFEAERATE ZM B A R R &

37 FEMBLARIREE DT

BAEEMEBR /X

Place of incorporation/ Issued share Percentage of equity/
operation and kind of capital/Paid up Paid up registered
legal entity registered capital capital held
Name AL R i B Principal activities BRITRE/ s ENEm
L REEERER TEXH ENEMER BXBEDL
2010 2009
—$-%F -“IINF
Subsidiaries
HEAR
J...C. Enterprises (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Inactive HK$500,000 100% 100%
EREFES (FE)BERAR Bk TEEx 500,000 7
J.I.C. (Macao Commercial Offshore) Macao Inactive HK$97,500 100% 100%
Company Limited il TEex 97,5007 7t
ERCRMBEEAERB)ARA
Namtek Japan Company Limited * Japan Provision of sales co-ordination JPY1,000,000 0% 0%
(Note) SN and marketing services to 1,000,000 B
(B zE) fellow subsidiaries
MR KRR AR HE
18 & 55 % B IR 7%
Shenzhen Namtek Company Limited*# the PRC/Wholly foreign-  Solution provider for software US$800,000 100% 100%
R BB FRMER A a)+ owned enterprise development 800,000 7.
HE/INEBE R E B2 BRA REER
Best Whole Holdings Limited* Hong Kong Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%
REZRER A A BB REER 18T
Joy Holdings Limited? British Virgin Islands Investment holding USS$1 100% 100%
EBELES REZR e
BT AL IR I F TR A the PRC/Sino-foreign Wind power project in Siziwang ~ RMB8,824,056 100% 100%
BRAR equity joint venture Qi, Inner Mongolia N
hE/ HONRELE NEEMTERZEAN 8,824,056 7T
FEEAE
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37 Principal subsidiaries and associated companies contivey 37 EZMi B A T R E D T @)

Place of incorporation/ Issued share Percentage of equity/

operation and kind of capital/Paid up Paid up registered
legal entity registered capital capital held
Name SR %  Principal activities BRITRA/ frisgs/ AT
A1 RERERER TEXK ENAEMER BEXEAL
2010 2009
—E-ZF Z—ZTNF
Hong Kong New Energy (SiZi Wang Qi ll) ~ Hong Kong Investment holding HK$1,000 100% 100%
Wind Power Limited &5 REZR 1,000 7T
R ER(NFEE ) ERE
ARRAT"
HKE (Da He) Holdings Limited* Hong Kong Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%
BREMERKN)ZERBR A" Bk REER 18T
HKE (Wind Power) Holdings Limited* British Virgin Islands Investment holding USS$1 100% 100%
EREFER(BRE)ERERAA! EBELES REEKR 1%
HKE (Services) Limited Hong Kong Human resources management HK$1 100% 100%
BEAMER(EE)ERAA BB ANERER 1T
HKE Danjinghe (BVI) Wind Power British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$1,000 100% =
Limited# EBELES REEKR 1,000% 7T
F AT I B 507 (BVI) [l ¢
BRAF
HKE (BVI) Limited+* British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$1 100% -
B3R (BV) BRA A+ RERLES REER 1%
HKE (Gansu) Wing Power Limited+* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% -
BEMER(HR) ERERA B/ HE REER i
Hong Kong New Energy (Si Zi Wang Qi) Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$2 100% -
Wing Power Limited* B/ h REER 25T
BRIER(WFER) REERAR
HKC (Linyi) Holdings Limited+ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% -
BREER (BT ERAR A A B/ HE REER 1T
HKE (Danjinghe) Wind Power Limited+* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$4 100% -
BENER(ERNALERATL  FE/HE REEKR 4B

ERFEFRIZER)ERAT o

— = T EER
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TEWBAARBE DT

37 Principal subsidiaries and associated companies (continueq)

Place of incorporation/

FTEMB AR REE QT @)

Issued share

Percentage of equity/

operation and kind of capital/Paid up Paid up registered
legal entity registered capital capital held
Name SR i Principal activities BRIRE/ iR/ MM
A1 RERERER TEXK ENEMER BEXEAL
2010 2009
—E-ZF Z—ZTNF
Sinoriver International Limited+# British Virgin Islands/ Investment holding US$1 100% -
B E R B R F PRC REER e
RBRZEHS/TH
Sinoriver International (Wind Power) Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$20 100% -
Limited- B/ REER 2075 7T
BB (B E) AR AR
APC Wind Power Pte Limited+ Singapore Investment holding SGD10 100% -
DI REER 1037 % T
Asia Wind Power (Mudanjiang) Company ~ PRC Wind Power project in HK$100,000,000 86% =
Limited+#2 Sino-foreign equity Heilongjiang, the PRC 100,000,000/ 7T
EMEANEE (LT AR A F joint venture RABEEETLZEN
B/ HRNEERE HFEHEA
Hong Kong Wind Power (Muling) PRC Wind Power project in HK$150,100,000 86.68% =
Company Limited+# Sino-foreign equity Heilongjiang, the PRC 150,100,000/ T
BERNEE(BE)BRAF joint venture W E R RETZE N
HE/ A ERE #EEA
BENERTD T EERE PRC Wind Power project in Siziwang  RMB166,480,000 100% -
ARA R Sino-foreign equity Qi, Inner Mongolia, the PRC AR
joint venture RERSRHNFEEZEN 166,480,0007C
HE/ NG ERE #EHA
Associated companies
BE AR
CECIC HKC Wind Power Company the PRC/Sino-foreign Wind power project in Danjinghe, RMB545,640,000 40% 10%
Limited+#5 equity joint venture Hebei, the PRC AR
hERERENEE (R RE/RNEECE REBTLERTZ 545,640,000
el CUNGIRE EWEEREE
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37 Principal subsidiaries and associated companies (continueq)

Place of incorporation/

Principal Subsidiaries and Associated Companies
FTEMBARARBEE QT

Issued share

37 FEMBLABIREEE XA @

Percentage of equity/

operation and kind of capital/Paid up Paid up registered
legal entity registered capital capital held
Name SR S Principal activities BRIRE/ s/ ENEMm
A1 RERERER TEXK ENEMER EXEAL
2010 2009
—E-ZF Z—ZTNF
CECIC HKE Wind Power Company the PRC/Sino-foreign Wind power project in Lunaobao, RMB323,260,000 30% 30%
Limited+t equity joint venture Hebei, the PRC AR
R BRRNEE HE/RANEERE  RRETLZKE RN 323,260,000 7
el UNGIRE EEA
CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind Power Company  the PRC/Sino-foreign Wind power project in Changma, RMB589,620,000 40% -
Limited#20 equity joint venture Gansu, Hebei, the PRC AR
R AR (HB R NBELR HE/ RNEERE REBEHBESZEN 589,620,000
NGl *ERH
Linyi National Environmental New Energy  the PRC/Sino-foreign Waste-to-energy project in Linyi, RMB100,000,000 40% =
Company Limited+#:5 equity joint venture Shandong, the PRC AR
B ST R IR FT AL IR A R A] 40 FE/HNEERE  RRBELRETZNR 100,000,007
BEIER

Note: Namtek Japan Company Limited has applied for voluntary liquidation and

is liquidated on 25 December 2009.

Remark:
Interest held by subsidiaries

Not audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
Newly set up or acquired in 2010

ae

#
A
a]

Unofficial English transliterations or translations for identification purposes

only

Fff7F : Namtek Japan Company Limited & & 5%

BREE®R YER-_ZTAF+=-A

“THBEZERBREFR -
+ EEABMNERRRFE
# I IE A R KB TR E R T E
A R_T—FFHALHEE
u}

ERFEFRIZER)ERAT o

FERRFEHBZ  EHHER

— = T EER
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Five-Year Financial Summary

A FMBERSE

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
—E-TF —ZTTHhF ZZTEN\EFE ZTT+F ZTIERE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHEIT THT FHIT THT
Consolidated statement of REEEBAREK
comprehensive income
Revenue &= 24110 10,609 13,877 654,010 504,297
Profit/(loss) before income tax IR 0D X U
(E#) 359,720 2,654 (101,670) 217,559 28,794
Income tax credit/(expense) FramiEe,/ (i) (24,396) (14,336) 6,963 10,9083 (601)
Profit/(loss) for the year FrEF(E8) 335,324 (11,682) (94,707) 228,462 28,198
Non-controlling interests JE 1 R M 5 987 1,251 4,987 - =
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity 7K A &) B& 3 1 2
holders of the Company BAE AR
w (B 18) 336,311 (10,431) (89,720) 228,462 28,193
Consolidated balance sheet SEBEERER
Net current assets mEBEEFME 265,317 170,296 287,911 330,182 47,575
Non-current assets FERBEE 2,231,471 217,368 36,522 74,678 129,934
Non-current liabilities FnBEE (815,741) (80,650) (1,709) (7,414) (8,525)
Net assets including EEFEBRE
non-controlling interests IE 1 i 7 75 ) 1,681,047 307,014 322,724 397,446 168,984
Share capital % 72K 25,422 7,726 7,635 7,635 7,635
Reserves & 1,631,945 299,288 301,176 389,811 161,349
Non-controlling interests FE 1 % 7 25 23,680 - 13,913 - -
Total equity % 3R 7 2 A2 B 1,681,047 307,014 322,724 397,446 168,984
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
—E-ZF —ZTTHhEF ZTENEFE ZTTLF ZTITRE
HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
Bl peqll bl x| ]
Earnings/(loss) per share BRaw,/ (B
- basic —ER 39.67 (1.36) (11.75) 29.92 3.69
Dividend per share BREE
- attributable to the year —FE g Nil £ Nil 42 Nil 4 Nil 42 Nil &
Return on total equity (Note) MRS AR
6] 7 3 (P 5%) 19.9% (3.8%) (29.3%) 57.5% 16.7%
Note: MERE -

Return on total equity represents the current year’s profit/loss for the year expressed as

a percentage of the closing total equity for the year concerned.
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